

# Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2022

# Strategies for Developing Call Center Employee Skills

Monica Almazni Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations

# Walden University

College of Management and Technology

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Monica Almazni

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee
Dr. Beverly Muhammad, Committee Chairperson, Doctor of Business Administration
Faculty

Dr. Carol-anne Faint, Committee Member, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Janie Hall, University Reviewer, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

Walden University 2022

#### Abstract

# Strategies for Developing Call Center Employee Skills

by

# Monica Almazni

MBA, Human Resources, Keller Graduate School of Management, 2021

MBA, Accounting, Keller Graduate School of Management, 2011

BS, Computer Information Systems, DeVry University, 2007

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

March 2022

#### **Abstract**

The lack of developing employees' performance has the potential for adverse business outcomes. Call center leaders must increase employee development skills as it is the number one predictor to improve organizational performance. Grounded in performance improvement theory (PIT), the purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore strategies call center leaders use to develop employees' skills and improve organizational performance. Five participants were call center leaders in Southern California who successfully implemented strategies to improve employees' skills and organizational performance. Data were collected from semistructured interviews, observations of body language, U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics, public and online libraries, organizational documents, and archival records. Thematic analysis was used to analyze the data. Four themes emerged: (a) training, (b) effective communication, (c) employee engagement, and (d) proactive leadership. A key recommendation for leaders in the call center industry is investing in initial mandatory training, continual training, and job rotation training to enhance employee performance. The implications for positive social change include the potential to retain employees by developing their skills, keeping them motivated to be more productive, and improving their services to their respective communities.

# Strategies for Developing Call Center Employee Skills

by

#### Monica Almazni

MBA, Human Resources, Keller Graduate School of Management, 2021

MBA, Accounting, Keller Graduate School of Management, 2011

BS, Computer Information Systems, DeVry University, 2007

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

March 2022

#### Dedication

I want to thank my amazing heavenly Father, my God, and my savior Jesus Christ for His miraculous work in my entire life. Praise the Lord for His love and mercy that He gave me the wisdom and knowledge to continue this doctoral journey towards the end. Thank you, Lord, for giving me a fantastic family that supported me in overcoming all the challenges I faced to complete my Doctor of Business Administration program. My successful completion of this doctoral program is dedicated to my amazing husband and three children. My husband, Ali "Peter," kept pushing me forward, supported me physically and emotionally, and gave me the strength to pursue my dream of earning a doctoral degree when I felt I should quit my study. He sacrificed a lot for me by working extra hours, helping with housework, and taking care of our children to give me the time to earn my doctoral degree. Completing this doctoral study would not have been possible without Peter's continual support. I also dedicate this study to my amazing daughter Celine. She acted as a second mother to her sister Cindy and her brother David when I wasn't available to take care of my kids due to reading, writing, traveling, or researching to complete my study. Thank God for my three exceptional children, Celine, Cindy, and David, for their understanding and encouragement to continue my study. Finally, I want to thank everyone else who encouraged me to continue my research or intimidated me into stopping my doctoral study as they got me to persist in continuing this challenging journey to prove to the world that it is worth it. The Lord blesses me with a fantastic family, a wonderful church, a great career, and an outstanding academic education; thank you, Jesus.

# Acknowledgment

I want to thank Dr. Muhammad for her continual support, feedback, and guidance in completing my doctoral study. Dr. Muhammad served as my committee chair and supported me to get my proposal and final study's approval. I truly appreciate the time you spent with me in conference calls, phone calls, emails, text messages, and revisions to strengthen my skills as a writer. I would like to also thank Dr. Faint an Dr. Hall, their support and evaluations in this academic journey played a big role in guiding me to fulfil the university's requirements and stay on track.

# Table of Contents

Li	st of Tables	iv
Se	ction 1: Foundation of the Study	1
	Background of the Problem	1
	Problem Statement	2
	Purpose Statement	2
	Nature of the Study	3
	Research Question	4
	Interview Questions	5
	Conceptual Framework	5
	Operational Definitions	6
	Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations	7
	Assumptions	7
	Limitations	8
	Delimitations	8
	Significance of the Study	8
	Contribution to Business Practice	8
	Implications for Social Change	9
	A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature	9
	PIT	. 10
	Other Theories Considered	. 18
	Call Center Environment	. 23

Training and Development Using PIT
Employee Engagement Using PIT
Employee Turnover Using PIT
Transition
Section 2: The Project
Purpose Statement
Role of the Researcher42
Participants45
Research Method and Design
Research Method
Research Design
Population and Sampling50
Ethical Research
Data Collection Instruments
Data Collection Technique56
Data Organization Technique
Data Analysis60
Reliability and Validity62
Reliability62
Validity
Transition and Summary65
Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change66

Int	troduction	66
Pre	esentation of the Findings	66
	Theme 1: Training	69
	Theme 2: Effective Communication	74
	Theme 3: Employee Engagement	78
	Theme 4: Proactive Leadership	81
	Performance Improvement Theory	84
Ap	oplications to Professional Practice	85
Im	plications for Social Change	86
Re	ecommendations for Action	87
Re	ecommendations for Further Research	88
Re	eflections	89
Co	onclusion	90
Refere	ences	91
Appen	ndix: Interview Protocol	123

# List of Tables

Table 1. Themes and Subthemes Found	Through Interviews6	50
Table 1. Themes and Submemes I build	Timough interviews	,

#### Section 1: Foundation of the Study

Organization leaders may experience limited organizational growth, low productivity, and high employee turnover when employees are not developed. Leaders are responsible for maintaining a skilled workforce through training and development of employees to increase their performance and productivity (H.Lee et al., 2019).

Developing employees' skills might help leaders in attracting more talent, drive up the performance of the company, and increase employees' engagement and retention. Delery (2017) indicated that in the call center environment leaders lose talented employees due to the lack of quality relationship with employees and leaders' inability to develop employees' performance.

# **Background of the Problem**

The lack of developing employee talent may be detrimental to work performance and impact employee turnover (Nerstad et al., 2018). Many organizations suffer from low employee productivity, high retention costs, and unmotivated employees. Some call center leaders lack the strategies to keep employees engaged and develop employees' skills. Leaders who do not invest in employee development can lower employee performance and incur higher recruiting costs due to higher turnover (Svitlana & Nataliia, 2019). Companies that do not offer employee development opportunities to new and existing employees limit the individual's development and the evolution of the business (Delery, 2017). Employees who do not receive adequate training, coaching, and mentoring may have a difficult time meeting performance standards.

#### **Problem Statement**

Organization leaders may experience high employee turnover and limited organizational performance when they neglect to develop employees' skills (Fang et al., 2020). In September 2019, 3.5 million employees voluntarily quit their jobs due to inability or unwillingness to perform their job duties (U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics, 2019). The general business problem was that some call center leaders face organizational performance difficulty because they are not developing their employees' skills, which is adversely affecting organizational performance. The specific business problem was that some call center leaders lack strategies to develop employees' skills and improve organizational performance.

# **Purpose Statement**

The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore strategies call center leaders use to develop employees' skills and improve organizational performance. The target population comprised leaders from two Southern California call centers who had successfully implemented strategies to improve employees' skills. The findings from this case study might effect positive social change by providing strategies to other business leaders about how to develop employees' skills, which might help to reduce employee burnout and workplace stress. The study findings might also improve the local economy by reducing voluntary employee resignations, which might reduce the local unemployment rate.

## **Nature of the Study**

Study planning began with consideration of quantitative, qualitative, and mixedmethods research approaches. Esensoy and Carter (2015) indicated that the qualitative method is a highly structured method in which researchers use a qualitative data gathering framework to solve a particular problem and identify strategies to overcome obstacles. Qualitative methodology was useful for gathering data relevant to the exploration of strategies call center leaders use to develop employees' skills. The data analysis from the qualitative method may provide strategic directions for leaders to retain talent by developing employees' skills and to reduce the turnover rate in the call center. Data analysis revealed ideas and plans that may be effective for similar organizations. Researchers use the quantitative method for deductive reasoning to form hypotheses and collect data to investigate a problem, share a conclusion, and provide evidence as to whether predictions are true or false (Zyphur & Pierides, 2017). The quantitative method was inappropriate for the current study because the focus was on strategy identification rather than identifying or testing hypotheses. In a mixed-methods study, the researcher gathers both qualitative and quantitative data with a single investigation of inquiry (Shannonhouse et al., 2017). The mixed-methods approach was inappropriate for the current study about strategies leaders use to develop employees' skills because there was no need to examine the relationship between variables. According to Yin (2018), qualitative methodology is appropriate when researchers plan to investigate participants' experiences, responses, and results during the evaluation and interpretation process in order to understand a phenomenon. Using the qualitative method was appropriate for the

current study because I explored the strategies some call center leaders use to develop employees' skills and improve organizational performance.

In this study, the case study design was appropriate because the research involved a deeper understanding of identified strategies call center leaders use to develop employees' skills. I chose a qualitative case study design to utilize multiple forms of indepth data collection to identify strategies used to develop employees' skills. The purpose of a case study is to answer how and why questions about the phenomenon (Yin, 2018). Conversely, researchers use the phenomenological design when they seek to understand individuals' lived experiences, which does not take into consideration perceptions (Kendrick, 2017). The phenomenological design is used by researchers to explore the topic from the views of people living the phenomenon (Wyk, 2017). The phenomenological design was not appropriate for the current study because the study was limited to exploring leadership strategies rather than lived experiences. Researchers use the ethnographic design to interact with participants in their real-life situation by using visual artifacts and documents (Comi & Whyte, 2017). The ethnographic design was not appropriate for the current study because there was no need to include visual artifacts or to investigate complex cultural phenomena. The content analysis of this case study focused on strategies used by two call center leaders in Southern California to develop employees' skills.

#### **Research Question**

What strategies do call center leaders use to develop employees' skills and improve organizational performance?

#### **Interview Questions**

- 1. What strategies did you implement to develop employees' skills and improve organizational performance?
- 2. What challenges did you experience in implementing strategies to develop employees' skills and improve organizational performance?
- 3. How did you overcome the challenges when implementing strategies to develop employees' skills and improve organizational performance?
- 4. How did you evaluate the strategies used to develop employees' skills and improve organizational performance?
- 5. How are training initiatives introduced and implemented in the organization?
- 6. What skillsets are targeted in training initiatives?
- 7. What benefits do you experience as a result of providing these training initiatives?
- 8. What additional information would you like to share about strategies used to develop employees' skills and improve organizational development?

# **Conceptual Framework**

The conceptual framework for this study was the PIT developed by Swanson (1999). Swanson described the constant demand for high performance that affects the growth of an organization. Leaders need to measure employees' performance to assess their strengths and weaknesses (Sun et al., 2018). Swanson based PIT on improving organizational performance by knowing the vulnerability and the capacity of the organization and to train and motivate employees. The PIT includes providing

performance feedback, training, incentives, and support systems to improve the work environment (Roman et al., 2017).

The constructs underlying key concepts of the PIT are: (a) performance analysis, (b) cause study, (c) intervention selection, (d) design and development, (e) implementation and change management, and (f) evaluation (Swanson, 1999). Swanson (1999) asserted that practical findings from organizations and business owners could provide the basis of PIT for developing employees' knowledge and skills. Swanson added that the effects of the PIT are (a) increased output, (b) increased efficiency, (c) improved effectiveness of the process, and (d) increased effectiveness of the procedure. A central part of the performance improvement process is that organizations need to identify their staff's responsibilities, strengths, and weaknesses, as well as current and future resources (Poell & Van Der Krogt, 2017). Swanson stated that mapping the employee development process includes feedback, active learning, coaching, and compensation. Therefore, the Swanson PIT was expected to align with the current study because improving employees' performance was the factor that might impact the ability to improve organizational performance.

# **Operational Definitions**

*Intervention selection*: Intervention selection includes actions that the employee can do to bring about changes in the job performance (Kilgus et al., 2019).

Organizational citizenship behavior: Organizational citizenship behavior occurs when the individual goes above and beyond the call of duty to make the working

environment run smoothly with a minimal connection to their current duties (Ismael & Yesiltas, 2020).

Performance analysis: Performance analysis is identifying the conditions necessary for the individual to become motivated and have high performance at work (Yan et al., 2021).

Talent acquisition: The talent acquisition department is a part of the human resources (HR) department where HR leaders are responsible for acquiring and hiring the best-qualified candidate for the offered position to improve employees' skills and develop employees' talents (Pillai & Sivathanu, 2020).

*Talent management*: Talent management is a business strategy that involves the leadership talent to recruit, hire, retain, and develop internal employees to grow their professional and personal skills (Hussain & Amin, 2020).

*Turnover intention*: Turnover intention is an indication of whether the employee is planning to voluntarily leave the organization (Heponiemi et al., 2019).

# Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations

# Assumptions

Assumptions are speculations that are believed to be true and accurate without proof or validation (Davidson et al., 2017). One assumption in the current study was that the semistructured interviews would provide an adequate opportunity to identify themes related to developing employees' skills. Another assumption was that participants would respond to all interview questions openly and honestly and would share documents about the employees' development plan as a secondary data source. The last assumption was

that the multiple case study design was a suitable model to collect data related to the business problem.

#### Limitations

Limitations of a study are possible weaknesses that are out of the researcher's control (Behm et al., 2018). One limitation in the current study was the leaders' ability to answer all questions truthfully without concealing confidential facts about the organization. Another limitation was that the call center leaders might have experienced discomfort in disclosing information about how they are working on developing employees' skills. The last limitation was that my previous employment as a call center employee might have influenced the research approach and analysis of the data collected.

#### **Delimitations**

Delimitations are boundaries of the research study controlled by the researcher (Mousavi et al., 2017). The current qualitative multiple case study contained two delimitations that might have impacted the results. One delimitation was the geographic location of the study: call center leaders of two organizations in Southern California. Another delimitation was that only call center managers with at least 2 years of experience with strategies to develop employees' skills and improve organizational performance were invited to participate.

#### Significance of the Study

#### **Contribution to Business Practice**

The study findings might be of value to businesses, may extend the existing scholarship on employees' skill development, and may increase employee engagement

and productivity. This study may be significant because when employees are developed, individual and organizational performance is positively impacted.

# **Implications for Social Change**

This study might contribute to the effective practice of business and help leaders develop employees' skills which, might motivate employees by providing the tools and support needed to reach organizational goals. The results might contribute to positive social change by developing employees' skills. Employees may be more motivated, more productive, and happier at work, at home, and in their community. When employees are developed, they have more confidence at work and in their personal lives. Moreover, the results might reduce unemployment and improve the local economy.

#### A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature

This review of professional and academic literature contained a critical analysis and synthesis of peer-reviewed sources and seminal scholarly books related to the business problem. The literature review consisted of a critical analysis of literature related to the conceptual framework and existing bodies of knowledge regarding strategies for developing employees' skills in call centers. The references consisted of 202 sources used as evidence, with 187 (92.57%) scholarly peer-reviewed articles. A total of 175 references (86.63%) had publication dates within 5 years of the study's anticipated completion date of 2021.

The literature review contained search strategies, critical analysis, and synthesis of literature supported by peer-reviewed sources to ensure depth of the inquiry. Evertz and Sub (2017) explained that researchers use the literature review to organize the

existing literature completed by scholars and professionals to provide academic sources to the reader. The purpose of the current qualitative multiple case study was to explore strategies call center leaders used to develop employees' skills and improve organizational performance. I researched peer-reviewed articles from the Walden University Library databases, including GetCITED, Directory of Open Access Journals, JournalSeek, Taylor & Francis Online, Emerald Management Journals, Business Source Complete, Wiley Online, SAGE Premier, ProQuest, and Google Scholar. The review involved the following search terms: Swanson PIT, call center, talent development, employees' performance analysis, intervention selection, developing employees' skills, performance improvement, organizational performance, and organizational commitment. The Swanson PIT was the conceptual framework for this study.

#### **PIT**

Swanson developed the PIT in 1999 and stated that the constructs underlying critical concepts of the PIT include performance analysis, case study, intervention selection, design and development, implementation and change management, and evaluation, which focus primarily on employees' development and improvement.

Swanson based the PIT on improving employees' performance by investing in their professional development to enhance their skills and keep them more engaged.

Swanson's performance improvement process might help organizational leaders improve employees' skills related to analyzing, proposing, creating, implementing, and assessing the organizational environment.

## Performance Analysis

Analyzing employees' performance is a significant step toward improving employees' skills. Performance analysis is essential because it helps organization leaders analyze the employees' contribution to a specific assignment and track the company's spending (Swanson, 1999). Team leaders can develop a personal performance plan for their team members when they understand the team's strengths and weaknesses and learn about their team members. Swanson said that organization leaders must generate more income than they spend, contributing to their profitability and budget for performance improvement. Rana et al. (2017) indicated that leaders must work with their team members to develop a performance action plan as a tool that helps employees to overcome stressful work-related challenges and develop their performance. Asadullah et al. (2019) explained that team leaders must analyze and evaluate the PIT budget from collecting data to improve the team's skills. Lejeune et al. (2016) commented that leaders could develop an employment plan based on the organizational performance analysis to evaluate the team members' needs, struggles, challenges, skills, and overall company goals. Swanson concluded that improving the performance analysis is based on the organizational leaders who boost employee performance to increase productivity and revenue. Leaders can use the performance analysis to find how each team member needs help and to coach and mentor each member effectively.

# Case Study

The team leaders can use the employees' statistics to identify the team's strengths and weaknesses and improve each member's performance. Swanson (1999) explained

that the organization could not have a long-lasting performance improvement plan without understanding the research records to consider a possible strategy to improve the individual, groups, and the organization. Mayhan (2017) recognized the PIT in the development plan by studying development needs, identifying goals, performing actions, measuring success, and watching the progress of the development process. Sanjeev and Singh (2017) explained that part of PIT focuses on leaders' need to study the company's goals and strategies for a structured talent management system to prepare employees to meet organizational needs. An essential part of the PIT focuses on corporate leaders' need to evaluate issues from prior cases and collect data for possible solutions or different approaches to overcome challenges (Mihaela, 2017). Rana et al. (2017) stressed the need for HR's involvement with PIT through data and trends to analyze individual performance change because of performance improvement plans. Swanson added that leaders must have a defined organizational process by studying the organizational needs and abilities to drive organizational performance.

Leaders should be aware of the company's mission and vision to coach their team members to improve organizational performance. Successful organization leaders identify mission and strategy, organization structure, technology, and HR to enhance organizational performance (Kirdina-Chandler, 2017). The use of PIT helps leaders to achieve organizational goals (Dodd, 2018). Swanson (1999) identified performance as the mission, goals, and strategies used to improve an organization's productivity and revenue. Turner and Baker (2016) explained that using the PIT might improve employee performance by studying employees' strengths and weaknesses to improve overall

performance. Dodd (2018) added that organizations use the PIT to improve their system performance and make informed decisions about improving performance using the appropriate system. A review of organizational records might help leaders develop proper development tools to enhance individual and organizational performance.

#### Intervention Selection

The intervention selection refers to strategies needed in performance improvement, which business leaders can take to reach the business goals. Swanson (1999) added that business leaders with lasting performance improvement must support the intervention with adequate practice. Mallin (2017) discussed the importance of using PIT for effective communication between leaders and employees to improve employee performance. Organization leaders should use various PIT techniques to enable individuals to understand the relationship between employees and leadership that underpin organizational development (Regts et al., 2019). Erkutlu and Chafra (2019) explained that leaders must find a tactical approach to coach employees using the PIT to develop a relationship and influence positive thinking. Poell and Van Der Krogt (2017) added that managers should consider different strategies and approaches to coach employees on more adaptive and constructive behaviors using the PIT rather than providing frequent negative feedback to ensure positive evaluations. Swanson added that leaders should address unforeseen circumstances by using business intervention strategies to develop new approaches based on the company's needs. Organization leaders can design employee development plans to set goals and strategies to improve employees' performance and organizational productivity.

## Design and Development

Offering continual quality development to employees requires a good development plan and leadership support to improve employees' performance. Swanson (1999) indicated that performance improvement requires the leader to design a development system to improve employee performance that motivates individuals. Darrat et al. (2016) explained that when the competition level is high, organization leaders must focus on the employees' continual development by educating them and providing individuals with tools to be innovative in the workplace. Leaders should design a plan to engage employees in the development process and reach positive results (Mayhan, 2017). Roman et al. (2017) revealed that part of the PIT coaching plan is to listen to feedback from the frontline employees. Roman et al. explained that the feedback could help leaders in the coaching process by providing additional training to improve customer service skills. Gill et al. (2015) demonstrated that organizations with the highest absorptive capacity showed the most extensive PIT use. Putri and Gorda (2019) stated that organization leaders should follow the PIT by supporting individuals. Leaders demonstrate support by providing feedback and training to engage employees in the workplace. Putri and Gorda added that leaders must spend quality time with employees to discuss any work-related problems, provide additional training when needed, engage employees in new policies and procedures, and set reasonable goals and achievable expectations. Swanson concluded that the traditional development process focuses on evaluating performance results to heighten the intent of the PIT. Team leaders can use

employees' statistics for assessing employee performance and look for ways to improve employees' skills.

Organization leaders need to provide the opportunity for improvement and help individuals to advance their career position. Swanson (1999) explained that using the PIT helps improve the company's sales because of the increased attention and effort that leaders provide to enhance the individuals' performance. Schmidt et al. (2017) explained that managers use dedicated resources to improve organization-specific skills and enhance employees' commitment and effort to raise firm performance: several professions are committed to PIT, including HR development, management, and quality improvement. Roman et al. (2017) identified that the purpose of the PIT for leaders is to consider a systemic perspective to integrate structure, technology, behaviors, and processes that are part of the implementation phenomenon. Schmidt et al. (2017) added that it is essential for organization leaders to allow employees to advance their careers within the company and provide promotions to higher level positions. Gill et al. (2015) explained that PIT is an essential tool for achieving more effective and sustainable quality improvement. Change management happens when the leader is up to date on the company's latest technology and is willing to help employees develop goals and strategies for each team member to follow.

#### Implementation and Change Management

The team leader must have enough knowledge about what the company is offering to explain and coach their team members. Swanson (1999) demonstrated that the PIT starts with organizational leaders, followed by improving the process and

individuals' willingness to enhance their skills and change toward better results through the HR system. Savaneviciene and Vilciauskaite (2017) explained that talent management is a tool to help leaders train new workers and develop existing employee skills, which supports productivity and organizational goals. Savaneviciene and Vilciauskaite added that PIT is used to improve the talent management system to develop a strategy to overcome any HR issues. Brett et al. (2016) explained that managers who provide frequent feedback, especially if there is continual negative feedback, can be destructive.

In contrast, constructive feedback leads to positive results and higher employee satisfaction. Leaders should motivate employees and help those underperforming individuals develop and learn new skills (Lin et al., 2018). Putri and Gorda (2019) added that the leader should focus on benefits as part of the PIT to reduce turnover because it is an essential factor that many managers ignore. Wang et al. (2018) explained that leaders should lead people and have the ability to influence, motivate, and enable employees to contribute to organizational success. Absorptive capacity is the ability for organizations to apply innovative ideas. Li et al. (2017) explained that leaders might need to focus on innovation incentives and absorptive capacity development to ensure that employees are working in a collaborative and supportive team environment to improve the overall performance. Swanson (1999) added that a change management process requires leaders to apply changes to transition to a new project to meet the company's outcomes. Regts et al. (2019) stated that the PIT is an excellent tool for leaders to change management systems to drive the organization to reach its goals.

Norris et al. (2017) used the PIT to define the importance of performance improvement in schools. Norris et al. explained that performance could negatively or positively affect a person, people, or organization. Norris et al. described the importance of evaluating leaders' performance to motivate them and improve their performance.

Rana et al. (2017) explained that the PIT is used to connect employees and their supervisors and clarify their required duties to achieve organizational goals. The team leader evaluates the employees' performance and knows the organization's products and services.

#### **Evaluation**

Evaluating employees' performance can help organization leaders determine the next step in the development plan. Swanson (1999) concluded that the final phase of the PIT is to focus on the evaluation of performance results. Poell and Van Der Krogt (2017) explained that using the PIT helps leaders provide constructive feedback in the evaluation process rather than only negative comments that lead to a stressful working environment and adverse outcomes. Lin et al. (2018) explained that leaders might educate selfmotivated employees who model the PIT and desire to learn and improve their skills. Employees need support by understanding how to improve their skills through frequent coaching sessions and feedback from their leaders.

Cullen-Lester et al. (2017) focused on the need for organizations to enhance the PIT and their leaders beyond knowledge, skills, and abilities by evaluating employees' skills and supporting individuals to improve. Cullen-Lester et al. revealed the critical gaps between the science and practice of network-enhancing leadership development as

part of the PIT. Meena and Vanka (2017) explained that although offering compensation is necessary, employees will not perform better unless the leader provides constructive feedback. Providing training and coaching sessions and engaging employees in the company's policy to make employees feel comfortable are aspects of the PIT. Swanson (1999) concluded that leaders must make informed decisions about using the appropriate system that focuses on analyzing the individual's needs and improving the skills to research a desirable result for both the individual and the company.

The team leaders should work with each team member to enhance employee performance based on their needs. Identifying individuals' weaknesses might help team leaders in improving organizational performance. Dodd (2018) explained that the PIT links the business to society because the PIT is a tool that allows organization leaders to know what they should or should not do on performance improvement. Dodd encouraged leaders to begin discussions early, engage employees and stakeholders, and evaluate performance to make a positive contribution to society. Roman et al. (2017) explained that the PIT includes strategies for leaders to use by providing performance feedback, training, incentives, support systems to improve the work environment. Rana et al. (2017) explained that organizational leaders must develop a performance improvement plan to help employees improve their weaknesses and advance their career levels. Setting individual goals for each team member might improve the team's overall performance.

#### Other Theories Considered

In addition to the Swanson PIT, researchers used several other theories related to developing employees' skills. One of the most common theories researchers used for

developing employees' skills is the McGregor Theory X and Theory Y (Lawter et al., 2015). McGregor (1956) stated that Theory A and Theory Y includes two aspects of people at work and two contrasting management styles. The PIT theory contains strategies to improve employees' performance to improve unsatisfactory staff members and employees' behaviors. Theory X and Theory Y includes what the employees' perspective of the company is and how they can change negativity in the workplace to increase employee satisfaction and performance.

#### McGregor's XY Theory of Management

McGregor (1956) developed contrasting theories about managers' belief of what motivates employees affects their management style: Theory X and Theory Y of human work motivation and management. McGregor explained that Theory X is the negative theory focusing on the assumption that employees are working solely for a sustainable income, which focuses on the company versus employees. McGregor indicated that Theory Y is a positive theory that assumes that employees can perform better when they learn to admit and recognize the responsibility. McGregor stated that managers' beliefs on performance improvement focuses on the organizational benefits but not from the employees' perspective (Lawter et al., 2015).

Theory X is a tool for the researcher to focus on why individuals tend to dislike their work due to their managers threatening punishment when they perform lower than expected (Frottas, & Nummelin, 2018). McGregor (1956) included that Theory Y is about the employees' skills and capabilities, including creativity and resourcefulness that leaders can use to solve organizational problems. Rohim and Budhiasa (2019) explained

that individuals do not feel connected to their organizations when they don't get rewarded for their achievements. The Theory Y might help leaders use current employees' skills and develop them to fulfill its purposes and mission (Kirdina-Chandler, 2017). Team members are willing to work harder and improve their performances when acknowledged by their leaders through the employee recognition and rewards program.

Frottas and Nummelin (2018) explained that there are other variables than in Theory X and y that are important in leadership, that concludes the attitudes and needs of the followers, the nature and structure of the organization, and the social, economic, and political environments. Leaders who use theories x and y might connect the employees' needs with the organizational goals to improve their performance (McGregor, 1956). The PIT concept indicates that social performance, organizational performance, team performance, and individual performance contribute to achieving organizational goals (Swanson, 1999). Theory X and y assist leaders in looking at the organization's human side of identifying the employees' behaviors towards the organization and its customers (Lawter et al., 2015). Frottas and Nummelin argued that the employees' behavior might swing from the x to the y theory with changes in the individual's mood and motives, leading to the working environment. Leaders who motivate the employee and provide frequent feedback can enhance employee performance. The PIT is different from the McGregor Theory X and Theory Y since it does not involve assumptions of what the employee thinks (Lawter et al., 2015). Instead, leaders use the PIT when analyzing and evaluating the employees' performance to improve their skills.

## Kirkpatrick Model

Kirkpatrick created the Kirkpatrick model in 1959, including a four-level training model to improve the employees' performance: reactions, learning, behavior, and results (Kirkpatrick, 1959). Susanto (2019) stated that the Kirkpatrick model is one of the most influential leaders' training methods. The Kirkpatrick model concentrates on the effectiveness of a training program by evaluating the training process with feedback from training sessions (Heydari et al., 2019). The Kirkpatrick Model is an instrumental model for training employees in different steps. Simultaneously, the PIT is more than training employees, but instead keeping employees engaged and reducing the turnover intentions.

Reaction. Kirkpatrick (1959) explained that the first step in the model is the reaction, which contains how satisfied are employees with the lesson. Jonny (2016) identified the Kirkpatrick model's reaction stage and how it might impact the learner's emotional response to the course designed and the impact on the learning stage as practical to the learner. Heydari et al. (2019) explained that the reaction step contains how the participants reacted to the training and if the movement may or may not help the individual improve their skills. Susanto (2019) added that leaders must evaluate training programs to choose the best and easiest process for individuals to learn; the teaching and learning method is essential to help in the education intervention. Heydari et al. (2019) added that the training experience is vital because exhausting the employee can lead to negative results.

**Learning**. Kirkpatrick (1959) indicated that the second step in the model is the learning stage, which contains what the learners learned from the training model. Dewi

and Kartowagiran (2018) added that the teaching step could help leaders understand the outcomes and increase their knowledge and skills from the learning process. Susanto (2019) indicated that the learning step contains how the leader can improve the employees' experience and skills and change their negative attitude. Heydari et al. explained that leaders must learn to score and measure the effectiveness of the training step in the Kirkpatrick model as part of the training assessment.

Behavior. Kirkpatrick (1959) explained that the third step in the model is the behavior, which focuses on what the employee can apply in practice from the learning process. Ho et al. (2016) added that the Kirkpatrick model's behavior step determines if the training is making an impact on the daily behavior of the agent, which forces the trainer to engage the trainee in the process by participating in the training development. Heydari et al. (2019) explained that the behavior step might help leaders focus on how the training affects the employees' behavior and improvement and if their weaknesses are improving.

Results. Kirkpatrick (1959) concluded the model with the results step that focuses on the training model results on the employees' behaviors. La Duke (2017) added that the Kirkpatrick model's results stage concentrated on calculating the initiative's business impact, including the return on investment; testing the results frequently while the training is to ensure the individual's understandings and make revisions when necessary. Susanto (2019) added that the Kirkpatrick model's fourth step is the impact of the training to produce positive results. Dewi and Kartowagiran (2018) noted that the Kirkpatrick model's training results might help leaders uncover new strategies in the

training methods if the individuals' performance is not improving after attending the training intervention. Using different training models is an excellent tool for leaders to improve the employee's knowledge and enhance the employee's skills about the company's products or services.

#### **Call Center Environment**

Call center employees must have in-depth knowledge of the company's product or services offered to answer customer's questions, make sales, and respond to consumer inquiries. Posey (2019) explained that when team leaders focus on the employee's performance improvement, they target an intense stressor for the call center representative, which is the main factor for job dissatisfaction. Hudson et al. (2017) explained the essential role of call center employees as they are the first to interact with consumers, making leaders need to work closely with agents to ensure the employees' satisfaction and engagement. Call centers are a division in the company where agents handle many customers' incoming and outgoing calls to provide support, handle inquiries, sales, and market research (Sato, 2018). Sato identified that a call center is a place where employees with a certain level of expertise gather the customer's information and inquire effectively as a base to acquire loyal customers and respond to concerns.

According to the U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics (2019), in 2019, there were 7,400 call center facilities across the U.S., with approximately 3.3 million employees. The call center usually contains multiple departments, including sales, marketing, customer service, quality assurance, technology, and employee relations. Zito et al. (2018) added that all center leaders must ensure their employees' well-being to increase

customer satisfaction since call centers are usually the first point of contact between the customer and the agent. Team leaders need to energize the work environment, improve the employee's performance, and increase employee satisfaction by providing enough tools and resources for team members to answer customer calls correctly.

Managers use technology-driven tools in the (PIT) to support sales, improve customer retention rates, disseminate information, and improve customer satisfaction to achieve higher employee satisfaction (Cosgrave et al., 2018). H. Lee et al. (2019) added that leaders offer lower wages in call centers when most workers are young with limited education. Still, higher pay might help motivate employees to perform better and increase productivity. Sato (2018) explained that the lack of training employees in a call center might cause dissatisfaction, disengagement, and higher turnover intentions. It is essential for call center leaders to ensure that the workplace is safe and employees are satisfied to increase employee productivity and support the organization's goals.

Aliyu and Nyadzayo (2018) identified four critical customer relationship management (CRM) dimensions useful for leaders to enhance employee job satisfaction: customer orientation, CRM organization, knowledge management, and technology-based CRM, which focus on improving the relationship between the leaders, employees, and customers. Effective coaching and regular training are essential to cultivating a capable team with the right knowledge about the company's products and services (He et al., 2019). Lockwood (2018) explained that the relationship between leaders and employees in the call center is essential, and leaders must possess excellent communication skills when coaching to improve employee skills. He et al. explained that coaching sessions are

a perfect tool for leaders to identify any work-related issues and improve the work condition and keep employees engaged. Ma et al. (2018) added that call center team leaders should have frequent contact with employees to identify any problems in advance and develop worker-community interaction opportunities. Ma said that call center employees are the company's front-line taking customer calls and interacting with management. Team leaders can work with employees to design a development plan to include frequent training to enhance employee skills. Incorporating the PIT in the call center environment is a tool for organizational leaders to use with employees to improve their knowledge about the products, services, and company initiatives.

# **Training and Development Using PIT**

Some leaders use the PIT to identify an employee's improvement areas; they train the employee in remediating these areas of improvement by developing the employees' skills. Li et al. (2017) indicated that many call center leaders focus on ensuring customer satisfaction and neglect employee satisfaction, conflict resolution, and regular training and coaching sessions, which leads to a higher turnover. Developing employees' skills starts with providing frequent training and coaching. Improving the employees' qualifications should include providing feedback, conducting spaced training sessions, and technology training (Lacerenza et al., 2017). Leaders can help low performing employees by addressing cross-training, shift schedule, days off, and break assignments across multiple service categories is proposed (Taskiran & Zhang, 2017). Aslam et al. (2018) explained that developing employee skills through training and education helps talented employees advance their career level and stay longer. Asadullah et al. (2019)

added that the training must focus on partial and specific cross-training to provide more flexibility in managing the workforce and helping employees learn new skills. Asadullah et al. indicated that it is more effective when leaders train their team members in-house because they have the experience and knowledge about the organization, which training from outside the organization lacks. Management can increase job satisfaction to reduce the turnover intention by developing the employees' skills and provide the necessary resources and training (Ro & Lee, 2017). Successful organizations use training as an effective way to establish employees' skills for future leaders with the company (Lacerenza et al., 2017). The PIT is a tool for leaders to use when evaluating the employees' performance to identify the best method for training each employee.

# Types of Training

There are many strategies and types of training that the employer can use to develop the employees' skills (Johnston et al., 2019). Noe (2020) explained two types of training: formal and informal training. Prasetio et al. (2019) indicated that improving employee skills through formal and informal training is essential to enhance employee performance. Smith et al. (2019) added that formal training consists of cross-training, coaching sessions, on-the-job training, and online webinars. Informal training is unexpected training opportunities like conversations, online discussions, books, and other company resources. The team leader should use formal and informal training that aligns with individual team members' needs.

Formal training is the type of training that employers develop with specific goals and objectives to improve employee skills and enhance employee performance (Sparr et

al., 2017). The formal training consists of an orientation, job training, technical skills development training, soft skills development training, and mandatory training (Noe, 2020). The orientation is the employee's first training when they start in the company. The on-the-job training is ongoing training that employers should frequently provide to the employee to enhance performance (Ellstrom, & Ellstrom, 2018). Detsimas et al. (2016) explained that workplace technical and soft skills training is essential, and employees appreciate training in the development process to reach organizational goals. Griffith et al. (2019) explained the importance of corporate leaders investing in inclassroom training to improve employee skills. Atanasoff and Venable (2017) demonstrated that leaders could add educational programs in a classroom environment or online to enhance their technical and soft skills. It is essential for the team leader to preplan the formal training to ensure that the content is understandable and beneficial to employees.

Team leaders must use effective communication with their team members through informal training sessions. Informal training focuses on developing the employees' daily skills, including regular coaching and mentoring sessions, networking, job rotation, and on-the-work competition (Sparr et al., 2017). Ramovs et al. (2019) added there are many strategies that the employer can use indirectly to improve the employees' skills by exposing the employee to different tasks and projects, which also helps create a healthy working environment. Organizational leaders need to provide frequent mentoring sessions to enhance employee performance (Boţoc et al., 2019). Team leaders can use the employees' statistics to coach based on individual needs.

Team leaders can share their knowledge, skills, and experience with their team members through mentoring sessions. Leadership mentoring is essential as ongoing daily training improves the individual's performance to learn new skills and technologies to enhance the individuals' wisdom and job knowledge (Pham et al., 2019). Al-Romeedy (2019) explained that job rotation is an excellent strategy that employers might use to expose individuals to different job tasks in various departments to broaden their workplace knowledge from different views. Prasetio et al. (2019) demonstrated that the most effective strategy in improving employee performance involves the organizational leader's ability to conduct multiple cross-training sessions to enhance low performers' skills.

Leaders can create an employee development plan that includes a joint agreement between the employee and supervisor to achieve personal goals, long term career goals, organizational goals, and what the employee will do, including training, to achieve the goals (Lejeune et al., 2016). The employees' development plan might include developing the employees' skills from the entry-level position to encourage employees to move up to the higher-level role and seek promotions (Griffith et al., 2019). Ma et al. (2018) explained that some individuals tend to leave the organizations and look for elsewhere because of their low performance and lack of a development plan or opportunity. The employees' development plan plays a significant role in effective communication with other employees and customers and demonstrates management support and feedback to improve their performance (Cosgrave et al., 2018). Frequent meetings between team

leaders and their team members can help address any work-related problems and increase the employees' performance and job satisfaction.

Quality time between the team leader and each team member is essential to reducing turnover intentions and increasing employee engagement. Selden and Sowa (2015) concluded that organizational leaders lose talent when they do not invest in skill development, provide adequate compensation, and provide relevant training. Asadullah et al. (2019) explained that the call center jobs' complexity forces managers to create and spend more resources in employee training and development to improve their skills through practical training. Call center employees need to be well-trained because they are the front-line with many customers who request assistance on a wide variety of company products and services, which requires excellent customer service (Asadullah et al., 2019) Frequent communication between the team leader and each team member might help identify strategies and resources that team members can use to increase productivity and revenue.

Leaders can use the training evaluation to enhance the training process and coaching and mentoring sessions. Maity (2019) added that the leaders should carefully design training and development programs to engage the employees in the company's rules, products, and services and prepare the individual for the organization's future needs. Joe et al. (2018) explained that having a trained workforce helps the organization to improve productivity and reduce production time and time providing customer service. Anwar and Shukur (2015) demonstrated that investing in the employee through training and development will enhance employee efficiency and increase employee satisfaction.

Santhanam et al. (2017) added that training and compensation practices influence employee intent to leave. Oliveira et al. (2019) stated that additional training, benefits, and promotional opportunities would increase job satisfaction and improve organizational performance. Rotating team members in different departments is an effective way to train employees to work in various jobs.

#### Job Rotation

Al-Romeedy (2019) explained a direct connection between job rotation's effect on improving the employees' performance and motivating the employee to learn new tasks. Al-Romeedy also indicated that job rotation enhances the employees' skills, increases the employees' satisfaction, and improves employee job involvement, reducing burnout. H. Lee et al. (2019) explained that while leaders need to place employees in the best position based on their qualifications and skills to increase productivity, improving their performance comes from practicing different tasks to learn new skills. Brueton et al. (2017) indicated that skilled leaders would expose employees to different functional areas of the company to increase their engagement and improve their skills. Walsh and Cain (2017) explained that job rotation in the call center helps improve the employees' skills and increases career advancement while reducing voluntary turnover. Rotating team members in the different departments will increase the employees' interactions with other team members and increase the employees' knowledge about the company.

Kampkotter et al. (2018) defined job rotation as a transfer between employees' jobs to develop employees' skills by rotating individuals to different work functions.

Rotating employees helps speeds up skill acquisition and allows employees to learn on

the job (Kampkotter et al., 2018). Asadullah et al. (2019) explained that it is essential to expose employees to a different position as part of the ongoing education. Tsoh et al. (2019) added that developing leadership skills through job rotation can significantly improve employee performance. Hastings (2016) identified that leaders could make employees feel like an asset to the company when they engage them in more tasks and expose them to different career opportunities within the company. Rotating individuals within the company give employees the feeling of security that increases job satisfaction, retention, and productivity.

Exposing individuals to different job tasks within the company might be a great way to teach individuals about its products and services. Thongpapanl et al. (2018) conducted a research study that indicated that job rotation promotes healthy and positive interdepartmental collaboration, enhancing the organization's performance. Thongpapanl et al. added that the individuals' performance improves when individuals are exposed to different departments and job tasks to help them gain knowledge about various departments and other positions. Liu et al. (2016) explained that rotating employee job tasks or promoting the individual to different functions increases the employees' job satisfaction and willingness to improve their skills and increase performance. Job rotation gives the employees new challenges and an opportunity to expand their current knowledge in different organizational aspects (Thongpapanl et al., 2018). Team leaders can frequently talk to their team members and develop a training plan, including training sessions, job rotations, and frequent coaching sessions.

## Coaching and Mentoring

Coaching and mentoring sessions are a great tool that leaders can use to increase employee engagement, performance, and satisfaction. Pham et al. (2019) examined the impact of coaching and mentoring on improving employee performance and found that positive coaching sessions and leadership mentoring can significantly enhance the individual's performance and overall company productivity. DiGirolamo and Tkach (2019) identified coaching as a way for managers and leaders to engage with employees and develop an action plan for improvement and better working relationships. Tan et al. (2018) defined mentoring as a long development process between the leader and the team member to improve employee skills and build trust and mutual respect. Tan et al. added that mentoring is a more formal approach than coaching that makes a long-term relationship between the mentor and the mentee. Jang and Marshall (2018) explained that negative criticism from leaders could reduce the employees' motivation. Team leaders need to use constructive criticism and encourage employees to improve and retain talent.

Coaching and mentoring might be the best way for leaders to increase employee job satisfaction and retention rate and reduce turnover intentions. Carr et al. (2017) explained that both coaching and mentoring are great methods that provide employees with support and resources to improve employee skills. Billings and Kowalski (2019) identified the importance of having productive coaching conversations that focus on possibilities and collaboration rather than about authoritarian or orders from the leader. DiGirolamo and Tkach (2019) added that coaching sessions are more performance-driven than improving employee development; it makes both coaching and mentoring essential

to engage the employee and develop higher performance. DiGirolamo and Tkach explained that practical coaching sessions from a skilled leader or manager could encourage the employee to improve their performance, providing better opportunities within the company. Heponiemi et al. (2019) conducted a study and concluded that poor coaching sessions and disengagement between leaders and their team members are strongly associated with underperforming employees. Heponiemi et al. (2019) suggested that leaders work closely with employees through coaching and mentoring to remove barriers, increase employee satisfaction, and increase productivity. Frequent communication between team leaders and their team members is essential in the employees' development plan.

Coaching sessions might help team members address any work-related problems before it escalates to job burnout. Jyoti and Rani (2019) conducted a study that directly connects a high-performance work system through leadership mentoring and the employees' intention to leave the company. Jyoti and Rani explained that extensive leadership mentoring could significantly reduce employee burnout and quit the company. Tan et al. (2018) demonstrated that supervisors' mentoring affects the employees' turnover intention by reducing the burnout symptoms such as emotional exhaustion and depersonalization. Tan et al. added that psychosocial mentoring functions help serve as role models with appropriate attitudes, values, and behaviors. Billings and Kowalski (2019) added that the supervisors' mentoring builds the connection between management and employees, engaging more in the company to improve, gain exposure, and obtain promotions. Men and Robinson (2018) identified that when employees are involved in

the company through support and recognition of their hard work, it leads to higher productivity and lowers their intention of leaving the company. Low-performing employees without any leadership support are more likely to be disengaged from the company's goals and mission.

Leaders can use the coaching and mentoring session to provide clear expectations about the job entails and offer clear job direction and tools to succeed. Banerjee-Batist and Reio (2016) explained that the organizational commitment through leadership support by formal mentoring directly links to the employees' intent to leave. Banerjee-Batis and Reio identified that when the supervisor or leader engages more with the employee through extensive mentoring, they will be less likely to quit. Kim et al. (2015) explained that the mentoring activity is productive if it focuses on main functions, career development, psychosocial support, and role modeling. Kim et al. added that comprehensive mentoring programs could significantly reduce turnover intention and positively affect job satisfaction. Fogarty et al. (2017) conducted a study showing that supervisory satisfaction through extensive mentoring programs is strongly associated with boosting the employees' performance. Lejonberg and Tiplic (2016) conducted a study that contributes to how the training can positively improve the communication between leaders and their team members. The leader needs to provide constructive feedback that gives directions on how the employee can reach better results and improve their communication skills (Fernandez et al., 2016). The leader's coaching and mentoring sessions must include developing the employees' communication and interpersonal skills

to enhance organizational performance. Disengaged team members result from inadequate communication between the team members and their leaders.

# Communication and Interpersonal Skills

Effective communication skills include listening and communicating professionally to convey important information. El-Huni et al. (2019) explained that improving the employees' communication skills help build the employees' interpersonal skills with customers, listening, and public speaking, and improve the employees' adaptability. Leaders can encourage employees to participate in training and learn new skills to overcome communication weaknesses and enhance speaking in public (Mitchell et al., 2019). Team leaders must work closely with each employee to develop the employees' communication skills, increasing employee productivity and performance.

Employees' input is critical in what the employee feels might help them improve their skills. Rauschenbach et al. (2018) indicated that effective communication training helps engage and coach employees. Rauschenbach et al. added that there are many resources that organizational leaders can use to improve the employees' communication skills. Effective communication skills training can improve the employees' interpersonal skills, increase the employees' feelings of confidence, and encourage individuals to participate in further development, which will enhance their productivity (Hesse et al., 2019). Mitchell et al. (2019) explained that open meetings and coaching sessions are some of the best ways' leaders can improve the employees' interpersonal communication skills. Mitchell et al. added that effective communication helps the employee learn to solve problems, handle communication conflicts, increase the employees' interpersonal

skills, and reduce the employee turnover intentions. Communication is an essential skill that all employees need in the workplace; improving their communication skills can significantly impact their success.

Employees with effective communication skills might be the future leaders of the company. Steffens et al. (2018) indicated that leaders must develop the employees' communication skills since investing in their skills is essential as they might be the company's tomorrow's leaders. Muldoon et al. (2018) explained that poor employee communication skills might be the reason for missed opportunities, conflicts, and low performance. Fischer (2015) added that effective two-way communication at the workplace is essential in improving the employees' skills by providing guidance and clarifying both personal and organizational goals. Shi et al. (2017) explained that an individual development plan should also improve their communication skills of reading and listening. Shi et al. indicated that leaders must engage employees at the workplace and offer constructive feedback to build effective communication skills. Sherman (2019) explained the art of providing negative feedback to the employee, building trust, promoting a growth mindset, and developing employee performance by making a development plan for improvements. Sherman et al. added that improving the employees' interpersonal communication skills helps the employee become an active listener and enhances the employees' verbal communication with consumers. Guo et al. (2017) indicated the importance of developing the employees' communication skills, including oral, nonverbal, written, and visual skills. Guo et al. added that providing developmental feedback might help adjust the employees' behavior and performance and improve the

employees' communication skills inside and outside the workplace. Developing the employees' communication skills is essential as part of the employees' development plan to enhance skills and increase productivity.

# **Employee Engagement Using PIT**

Utilizing the PIT might improve the employee's engagement by having loyal, committed employees to their organizational goals and values. Holland et al. (2016) explained that when leaders provide tools and resources to their employees, they are more engaged and committed to the organization, which leads to higher satisfaction and higher productivity. Men and Robinson (2018) explained that employee engagement is achieved when employees' knowledge and ideas increase employee productivity and services.

Martins and Nienaber (2018) added that engaged employees are more committed to the company and can advance their careers through improving their skills. Bakker (2017) explained that engaged employees are motivated to work harder and willing to excel in their careers. Bakker added that coaching, meetings, and training sessions are the best ways to keep employees engaged, committed to the company, and improve their skills. Engaged employees are more likely to have higher performance and are motivated to align with their goals (He et al., 2019). Employee engagement has proven to increase employee satisfaction and increase employees' productivity.

Engaged employees are more committed to the company and are willing to improve their skills to advance their careers. Bondarchuk (2018) explained that investing in human capital will increase employee engagement, knowledge, skills, physical wellbeing, and mental abilities. Harker et al. (2018) conducted a study that shows that

meetings and coaching help employees engage in the development process to improve their skills. Vercic and Vokic (2017) explained that engaged employees are the ones that will be willing to take extra training and accept the coaching feedback to advance their career within the company.

Engaged employees produce higher productivity and are more innovative than others. Holland et al. (2016) explained that engaging employee is an essential part of developing the employees' skills since employees won't spend efforts to improve their performance if they have the intention to leave the company. Vercic and Vokic (2017) added that engaging employees at the workplace are an excellent way of building trust and improving employee satisfaction. Li et al. (2017) explained that employee creativity, higher productivity, and innovation come from engaging employees. Martins and Nienaber (2018) concluded that engaged employees produce higher productivity; they are happy and healthy inside the workplace and look for more opportunities to advance. The leaders' usage of the PIT might help employees influence their level of engagement, increase their chance of becoming emerging leaders, and commit to the organization.

# **Employee Turnover Using PIT**

The turnover intentions come from the lack of employee support through training, coaching, and continual development. The PIT is strongly associated with increasing the employee's engagement, improving the employee's performance, motivating individuals, and offering various training, which contributes actively to increase the retention rate and decrease the employee's turnover intentions (Holland et al., 2016). Ro and Lee (2017) stated that lack of training in call centers results in a high employee turnover rate from

conducting an extensive study of turnover intentions. Dhanpat et al. (2018) added that most individuals decide to leave the current job and look for another opportunity because they do not feel supported by the supervisor and are not adequately trained. Cosgrave et al. (2018) added that team leaders could reduce turnover by creating an employee development plan, including frequent training.

Organizational leaders must work closely with their team members to improve their performance and enhance their skills. Dhanpat et al. (2018) added that the team leader must address the employees' negative emotions through regular coaching and mentoring sessions, reducing employee frustration and improving customer service. Fernandez et al. (2016) explained that it is essential to develop employee skills from the first day of work because these individuals are the company's future leaders, neglecting to improve the employees' performance results in job dissatisfaction and employee turnover. Zhou and Li (2018) indicated that leaders could reduce the employees' intentions to leave the company by improving their performance and offering different training types to enhance employee skills. Satardien et al. (2019) indicated that when leaders invest in enhancing employees' skills via coaching and training, they are more likely to stay. When employees are developed and trained, they are more engaged and more likely to remain even in stressful environments such as call centers.

When employees' performance improves, employee satisfaction increases and they are more likely to stay. Zhu et al. (2019) explained that when the company invests in the employees' benefit resources like career improvement and satisfaction, they become more committed to their companies, and they tend to work harder. X. Lee et al. (2017)

explained that strengthening the employees' skills by offering various training programs allows employees to improve and increase the employee retention rate. Buck (2017) argued that having a development program is an essential factor in increasing retention and push individuals to enhance their performance. Krutsinger et al. (2019) added that leaders retain talent by providing coaching. Often, individuals want to improve their performance; some employees do not know how to unless their leaders direct them.

Montani et al. (2020) demonstrated that employees tend to perform better when recognized for their hard work, they feel more compelled to continue working hard.

Khalid and Nawab (2018) explained that workplace training and ongoing education have a more substantial influence on retention. Employees who are provided training opportunities are more engaged, and when an employee is more engaged, they are more committed to the organization and less likely to leave.

### **Transition**

Section 1 of this study contained the foundation for the purposed qualitative multiple case studies to explore strategies call center leaders to use to develop employee skills. Call center leaders to suffer from high employee turnover and workplace stress because of their low performance, which leaders should predict and take preventive actions (Valle & Ruz, 2015). The Swanson theory was the conceptual framework used for this study. Richard Swanson (1999) described that the constant demand for high performance affects the organization's growth to satisfy consumers. The study's significance might be of value to businesses to extend and contribute to the existing

scholarship about employees' skills development and increase employee engagement and productivity support by the academic peer-reviewed literature.

Section 1 included the background of the problem, problem statement, purpose statement, nature of the study, and research question. Later in the section, I included the conceptual framework, operational definitions, assumptions, limitations, delimitations, and the study's significance. The literature review included intensive review of different categories: (a) the PIT (b) other theories considered, (c) call center environment, (d) training and development, (e) employee engagement, and (f) employee turnover. The literature review of the professional and academic literature included peer-reviewed journals ranging from 2016 to 2020 related to subtopics on developing employee skills in the call center environment.

Section 2 contains the purpose statement, the role of the researcher, participants, research method, research design, population and sampling, ethical research, data collection instrument, data collection techniques, data analysis, study validity, and transition and summary. Section 3 consists of an application for professional practice and social change implications. I started with the introduction, followed by a presentation of findings and application to professional practice. Later in the section, I focused on the implication for social change, the recommendation for action, recommendation for further research, reflections, and a conclusion to the research study.

# Section 2: The Project

Section 2 of this study comprises the reasoning for investigating, validating, and interpreting the challenges call center leaders face to develop employees' skills and improve organizational performance in the call center environment. Section 2 includes the role of the researcher, description of participants, research method and design, population and sampling, ethical steps used by following the protocols of the Belmont Report, data collection instruments and techniques, organization and analysis of the data collected, and the reliability and validity of the study. Data were collected from virtual semistructured interviews with open-ended interview questions and a review of related company documents.

### **Purpose Statement**

The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore strategies call center leaders use to develop employee skills. The target population comprised leaders from two Southern California call centers who had successfully implemented strategies to improve employees' skills. The findings from this case study might effect positive social change by providing strategies to other business leaders regarding how to develop employees' skills, which might help to reduce employee burnout and workplace stress. The study findings might also improve the local economy by reducing voluntary employee resignations, which might reduce the local unemployment rate.

#### **Role of the Researcher**

My role as the primary researcher was to select appropriate participants from whom to collect data. I also analyzed the data and reported the findings. Darmayanti et al.

(2018) confirmed that a researcher in qualitative studies conducts in-depth interviews with participants, chooses the appropriate data analysis method, and develops findings from a wide variety of resources. I gathered information and strategies from different peer-reviewed sources, conducted interviews with multiple participants, and gathered data from organization documents to ensure the quality of the study. I made sure to maintain the correct interpretation of the data to avoid false conclusions.

I have more than 12 years of call center experience in multiple positions from sales to management, but I was not working in a call center at the time of the study. I was not working for and had not previously worked for the participant organizations, and I did not have any personal or professional relationship with any of the participants. Wylie (2018) stated that the researcher should not bring implicit values and beliefs, draw inappropriate conclusions, generalize results, or otherwise influence the research process and outcomes. Cumyn et al. (2018) explained the importance of analyzing the perceptions of the researcher because they might influence the interpretation of the data. I avoided interrupting the participants when conducting interviews. Interviews were scheduled virtually using Zoom, Skype, or FaceTime because of the COVID -19 pandemic. I recorded the interviews and avoided adding my personal opinions to interview answers.

Adashi et al. (2018) explained that *The Belmont Report* is a great tool for researchers to use to ensure that ethical principles are followed in research that involves interviews or surveys. I followed the principles of *The Belmont Report*. Friesen et al. (2017) stated that it is necessary to separate research and practice and to follow *The Belmont Report* to ensure positive solutions and fair results. *The Belmont Report* was

published by the National Commission to provide an ethical framework in human research to set boundaries between practice and research (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 1979). I followed the three ethical requirements stated in *The Belmont Report*: (a) respecting my participants and protecting their opinions, (b) doing no harm and minimizing the risks to participants, and (c) following justice by treating each participant equally.

I mitigated any personal bias by not inserting my personal thoughts and opinions from my call center experience and listening closely to what was being said by each participant. O'Sullivan and Schofield (2019) explained that the researcher could mitigate bias by collecting data from multiple resources and many participants to reduce error and to reduce the misinterpretation of collected data. The researcher must be able to ask the best questions and interpret the truth from the information and data collected (Darmayanti et al., 2018). Researchers should not have a preconceived position on the subject to mitigate any bias that may shift the results (Cumyn et al., 2018). I followed the interview protocol (see Appendix A), took notes to capture participant responses, and remained neutral and objective during data collection.

It was critical for me to choose the best interview questions and to ask the same questions to each participant to answer the research question. I asked for clarifications when needed, and I used an interview protocol with participants to have a consistent interview process to promote the research study's reliability. Yeong et al. (2018) explained the need for the interviewer to ensure alignment between interview questions and research questions to improve the interview protocol and ensure reliability and

validity. Jimenez et al. (2019) indicated that interviews provide in-depth information about participants' daily experience and the issues they experience, which can contribute to existing literature. Friesen et al. (2017) indicated that the interview process is essential to gain evidence about people's perception and what can be done to solve the problem.

### **Participants**

I selected the participants based on their experience implementing strategies to develop employees' skills in the call center environment. Salterio et al. (2017) explained that an essential part of a qualitative study is collecting data from participants through interview-based research to give added depth to the interpretation and experimental results. Yin (2018) stated that researchers could use multiple participants in a qualitative study to collect and analyze data. I purposefully chose five call center leaders from two Southern California organizations. The eligibility criteria for the study participants included (a) over the age of 18, (b) have been in a call center leadership position for at least 2 years, and (c) have implemented strategies to develop employees' skills and improve organizational performance. To gain access to research participants, I used the Directory of Call and Contact Centers in Southern California. The Directory of Call and Contact Centers is a public list for call centers located in Southern California. The directory includes the company's name, address, phone number, fax number, email address, and website.

Heslop et al. (2018) explained that a researcher could establish a relationship with a participant to improve the study, build trust, and protect the participant's anonymity and confidentiality. I emailed each participant an invitation to introduce myself and the study

purpose, describe the criteria to participate, and offer some sample questions. Glegg (2019) explained that it is essential to safeguard participants' well-being by adhering to standard ethical principles and respecting the participant's privacy and confidentiality. In the current study, it was essential to inform each participant that the information shared would be confidential and any company data and personal information shared would be protected to avoid any harm to the participant and to the company. I maintained honest, respectful, and professional communication with each participant and avoided infusing personal bias.

### **Research Method and Design**

There are multiple research methods available for the researcher to choose from based on the case study and the best technique to investigate the research question (Yin, 2018). I chose qualitative methodology with a multiple case study design to explore strategies call center leaders use to develop employees' skills. I selected the qualitative method because my intent was to explore strategies that call center leaders use to develop employees' skills through open-ended questions.

#### Research Method

The three research methodologies are qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods (Yin, 2018). Bansal et al. (2018) explained that researchers use the qualitative method to focuses on an in-depth understanding of social phenomena and the why and the what of the case or phenomenon according to human experiences. Vat et al. (2017) explained that researchers use a qualitative study to explore strategies that can contribute to the current study and research. The qualitative method was the most useful in my study

because I conducted interviews with open-ended questions to understand the what and why of strategies used by the participant leaders from multiple organizations. Mijovic et al. (2018) described qualitative methodology as that which is used to analyze words instead of numbers in the data collection.

Quantitative researchers use statistical and mathematical approaches to provide evidence and results (Zyphur & Pierides, 2017). Goode et al. (2018) explained that researchers use the quantitative method to collect numerical data from a large sample and compare two or more variables to interpret results to explain a particular phenomenon. Freche et al. (2018) indicated that researchers use quantitative methods to confirm a hypothesis about a phenomenon. Rutberg and Bouikidis (2018) explained that the quantitative study might be complicated because it involves more time to perform the analysis and the data collection is often more expensive compared to qualitative studies. The quantitative method was not the best choice for the current study because I did not test a hypothesis or compare variables to explore strategies participants use to develop employees' skills.

In mixed methods, the researcher uses both quantitative and qualitative methodologies (Yin, 2018). Researchers collect data related to quantitative approaches and conduct interviews using qualitative methods to provide a more thorough understanding of the results (Rutberg & Bouikidis, 2018). Sozpsychol (2017) explained that mixing qualitative and quantitative methods is more time-consuming and complicated because the study may require more resources to collect both types of data.

The mixed-methods approach was not appropriate for my study because I did not examine the relationship between variables using statistical analysis.

# Research Design

I considered the four qualitative research designs: phenomenology, ethnography, narrative design, and case study. I chose a qualitative multiple case study design to utilize multiple cases for a deeper understanding of the problem. Alwi et al. (2018) explained that skilled researchers use the phenomenological design to uncover the truth from the participants' perspective. Wyk (2017) stated that the phenomenological design is used to gather data from different individuals and their experience related to a phenomenon. Researchers use the phenomenological design to understand individuals' lived experiences, beliefs, or attitudes and do not take into consideration perceptions (Groenewald, 2018). The phenomenological design was not appropriate for the current study because it was limited to participants' use of strategies, not their attitudes or beliefs about the study subject.

Pilkington (2018) explained that ethnographic research is used to observe the participants during in their daily experience and real-life situations. Comi and Whyte (2017) described ethnographic research as an in-depth investigation by observing participants in their natural environment, not only from the participants' answers. The ethnographic design may require a certain period in the field for data collection (Yin, 2018). The ethnographic design was not the best choice for the current study because I did not observe participants in their natural environment. The narrative design includes stories from individuals and their personal experiences about a specific phenomenon

(Pilkington, 2018). The narrative design was not appropriate for my study because I did not collect individual stories.

Researchers use single and multiple case studies. Vergel et al. (2018) explained that the single case study is the most basic form of case-oriented research that involves repeated measures and manipulation of an independent variable. Von Borell de Araujo and Franco (2017) described the single case study as a way for researchers to explore and describe a phenomenon rather than to determine the cause and effect or to make predictions. The multiple case study involves several instrumental cases to explore multiple data collection methods; it is more powerful than the single case study because it provides more extensive description and explanation of the problem (Von Borell de Araujo & Franco, 2017). The multiple case study was the best choice to explore the current problem from a broader perspective through the use of multiple cases.

I collected data from interviews and company documents to validate the study's outcome. Data saturation occurs when the researcher has information on what they need, and no new information can be collected (Tran et al., 2017). Hancock et al. (2016) explained that the researcher reaches data saturation when there is no new information found and the collected information is enough for the reliability and dependability of the study. Farrugia (2019) added that the researcher could reach data saturation by conducting interviews from at least five participants. The current sample was collected from five participants from two different companies. I was prepared to add more participants until no new information was collected and I achieved data saturation.

Performing additional interviews might have been necessary if further data collection was

needed for the study to achieve data saturation. I planned to continue with additional interviews until saturation was met and no new codes occurred in the data. I did not add additional interviews because no new information emerged.

# **Population and Sampling**

The population for this study consisted of five leaders from two call center companies located in Southern California who had successfully implemented strategies to develop employees' skills. Farrugia (2019) explained that the researcher could guide the sample size by the study's research questions, and it is essential to identify the population to create a sampling strategy. Vasileiou et al. (2018) found that the sample size of a qualitative research study should be large enough to obtain more in-depth information. The sample size that I used was appropriate to provide data and information on how to develop employees' skills. I did not conduct additional interviews because no new information emerged. At that point, I stopped the interview process.

Yin (2018) identified that the researcher must select participants, identify the type of sampling, and determine the sample size. Purposeful criterion sampling was beneficial in this case study because it was an appropriate method to select information-rich cases related to the research question of the study. In this case study, each participant had a set of characteristics and knowledge about the research topic. Yin explained that the population consists of participants with similar characteristics based on their anticipated richness and relevance of information related to the study's research question. Likewise, Moser and Korstjens (2017) stated that purposeful sampling is a technique that is useful in a qualitative study that involves identifying and selecting individuals with knowledge

or experience about the research topic. Moser and Korstjens added that purposeful selection is a sampling technique that is useful in providing the researcher with the justification to analyze the information and data from the sample that the researcher is studying. Benoot et al. (2016) described that purposeful sampling provides a new perspective to the line of argument to show how the results are conceptually aligned with the study's purpose. Yang and McNair (2019) indicated that one of the disadvantages of using purposeful criterion sampling is the limitation of the small sample size despite its extensive use because the researcher can reach the population quickly. However, Palinkas et al. (2016) explained that purposeful criterion sampling helps the researcher to gather sufficient data regarding a phenomenon or experience.

I selected participants who met the following qualifications; (a) over the age of 18, (b) have been in a call center leadership position for at least 2 years, and (c) used strategies to develop employee skills and improve the organizational performance. I choose participants from the Directory of Call and Contact Centers in Southern California. Marshall et al. (2016) explained that the interview site should be comfortable and quiet to ensure the quality of the recordings and avoid distraction. Bakker (2017) noted that the interviewer must attempt to eliminate interruption during the meeting and provide a quiet location for the privacy of the participant. Using online or mobile video meeting helped each participant to conduct the interview from their best location for their confidentiality and reduce any chances of being distracted. At the end of the interview, I thanked participants for their time and for participating in this research project. I transcribed each interview response and shared it with each participant to review confirm

accuracy before I compile the data into themes. Each participant reviewed and verified their responses from their interview summary to ensure I accurately captured their responses.

Yin (2018) stated that in a qualitative research study, the researcher reaches data saturation when the addition of new data no longer provides any new information and the interview process ceases. Data saturation is an essential methodological element in the research work, and it is used when the researcher discontinues collecting data (Saunders et al., 2018). Tran et al. (2017) stated that determining the point of data saturation is complicated because the researcher is collecting data from the same sampling, which forces the researcher to use a formula to make this determination easier. I achieved Data saturation by conducting five interviews and found no new information emerged.

Multiple participants and a well-structured interview were necessary to reach data saturation and gather enough information about the research problem.

#### **Ethical Research**

Walden University requires all researchers conducting data collection to obtain institutional review board (IRB) approval before the data collection can begin. Once I received my IRB approval number 06-11-21-0675280, I began the interviews and the data collection from my participants. Participants were informed that they can withdraw from the study at any time by contacting me through email or telephone to explain their wishes to withdraw from the study. Participants were informed that the study offers no direct benefits to individual volunteers. The informed consent form (see Appendix B) includes: (a) explanation of the research study, (b) invitation to consent to the study, (c)

explanation about volunteer participation, (d) risk and benefits of the study, (e) confidentiality, (f) explanation of the knowledge gain from the study, (g) withdrawal procedures, and (h) exchange of contact information. Each participant replied to the consent form stating "I consent", understanding the study and wish to volunteer, before the interview is scheduled. Participation in the study is voluntary and there were not any incentives given for participation in the study.

Ethical standards are essential in the research study to safeguard the confidentiality of the participants by removing any sensitive information related to the individual and the company. Surmiak (2018) explained that the researcher must have an approach to ensure the confidentiality of the participant when collecting data or when sending e-mails. Researchers should safeguard the privacy by not disclosing any sensitive information in the study and take the consent from the participants to use the collected data in the study. Turcotte-Tremblay and McSween-Cadieux (2018) added that researchers must respect participants by developing a strategy to protect their information while they sometimes show sensitive results. I complied with Walden University's ethical standards and the Belmont Report by respecting and protecting participant's opinions, minimizing any risks, and treating each person equally.

Participant's information was kept confidential as well as the company's data through the use of unique identifiers such as: CO1 and CO2 for companies and participants as PT1, PT2, PT3, PT4, and PT5. All information was kept confidential to avoid any potential harm to the participant which might result in a loss of employment to ensure ethical protection of the participant. Domingo-Ferrer et al. (2019) added that

maintaining confidentiality depends on how the researcher manages to store the information. Personal and sensitive data must be securely stored to protect participant's, the researcher must be aware of the privacy issues and how to ensure the safety of the participant's and their companies (Wyburn, 2018). I kept an electronic copy of the recorded audio interview on a USB drive, all notes, copies of the informed consent forms, and company documents in a locked in a file cabinet in my home office. The locked cabinet is a password-protected jump drive that only I have access to. After 5 years from my graduation date, all paper documents will be shredded and the USB drive destroyed. Upon receipt, I included the Walden IRB approval number, 06-11-21-0675280, and the expiration date of June 10, 2022, in the informed consent form.

#### **Data Collection Instruments**

Data collection instruments are the tools used to gather and analyze data in a qualitative research case study. The researcher is a primary method for data collection (Yin, 2018). I was the primary method for data collection in this study. Buist et al. (2019) indicated that the semistructured interview method is used to collect data because it includes a clear set of instructions to the participants, which results in reliable and comparable qualitative data. I conducted semistructured interviews with participants with open-ended questions, collect data from any organizational documents like company policies and procedures related to training, employee's development surveys, and research peer-reviewed sources to ensure the quality of the study. Lukyanenko et al. (2019) explained that the data collection method in qualitative research that it shapes the direction of the research study. Yin (2018) demonstrated that the researcher should use

multiple sources of evidence when collecting data and guide data analysis. I conducted semistructured interviews, take notes and observe changes in tone and body language, and review organizational documents as my data collection.

Following the interview protocol for each participant is essential, along with following the ethical requirements stated in *The Belmont Report*. Consistent process to achieve the reliability of the research study requires including the interview protocol with each participant (see Appendix A). Each interview consisted of open-ended questions in an audio recorded session. Exchanging information with the participants was essential in case of questions or any follow up clarification needed. Udod et al. (2017) added that the interview process is essential to gain evidence about peoples' perception about the study, and to look for different strategies to reach the reliability. Member checking and methodological triangulation with multiple data sources were used to decrease bias and increase the validity and reliability of the findings of the study. Ensuring the reliability and validity of the research is important, along with reducing bias by setting aside my personal experience to avoid any favoritism or preferences in the study. I represented the information without adding my personal opinions from my prior call center experience. Naidu and Prose (2018) explained that member checking in qualitative research helps the researcher to establish credibility and trustworthiness.

In a qualitative study, researchers need to ensure the reliability and validity of the data collected from the participants. Lukyanenko et al. (2019) explained that reliability is the appropriateness of the researcher's tool. Li et al. (2017) added that reliability refers to the exact replicability of the process and results. The sample size of selecting five leaders

from two call center companies, and the data analysis from semistructured interviews and organizational documents were carefully chosen to ensure the validity of the study. The data collection method, interpretation, and analysis were carefully analyzed to avoid misinterpreting the participant's response. Tran et al. (2017) explained that the researcher should continue to gather information and data until no new information can be collected to ensure data saturation. To ensure consistency, I asked participants the same questions in the same order and continue with interviews until no new information emerged and data saturation is achieved. To ensure reliability and validity, I actively listened to the participants, take notes of body language and tone, and collected any relevant company documents.

### **Data Collection Technique**

The data collection techniques included audio recorded semistructured interviews using the interview protocol (see Appendix A) with open-ended questions, direct observation of body language, organizational documents, and archival records from peer-reviewed articles on employee development. To prepare for the interviews, I called each participant or send a text message a day before the meeting to confirm the date, time, and the location of the interview. Each participant was provided a copy of the consent form to reply "I consent" to it; I answered any questions they may have about the process before the start of the interview. The consent form (see Appendix B) includes information about the study purpose and scope, the interview process, that participation is voluntary and without compensation, identify how the participant can withdraw from the study, explain the confidentiality of the research study. I planned to conduct semistructured interviews

with 5 participants to find strategies call center leaders use to develop employee skills and improve organizational performance. Recording each interview is essential using the virtual interview recording features and taking additional notes to capture body language, tone, and mannerisms. The audio recorded interviews were transferred to a USB drive which is essential to easily refer back to when needed. Collecting archival records from government sources like the U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics was another essential source to use along with collecting data from public and online libraries which might include books, reports, and organizational files about strategies call center leaders use to develop employee skills.

An advantage for structured interviews as a data collection technique was the two-way communication with the participant to answer interview questions. Buist et al. (2019) explained that the use of semistructured interviews gives the participant the freedom to express their views, which support the study with reliable and comparable qualitative data. Udod et al. (2017) explained that some of the disadvantages of conducting a semistructured interview are that there is only one chance for interviewing the participant, and the quality of the data might be affected by the participant's personal opinions. Taking notes to capture changes in body language was essential along with noting the tone, and other mannerisms during the interview.

I used member checking and methodological triangulation for multiple data sources to ensure the validity of the research and mitigate any personal bias. Each participant received an email containing the transcribed rough draft of the interview summary to review and ask participants to review it and identify any misinterpretation to

make the necessary correction. To ensure validity of the research I revised the interview summary and document notes based on how the participant changed their response. Tran et al. (2017) added that the researcher must have good judgement and experience to determine the point of data saturation based on the information on what the researcher have found. I planned to continue with more interviews if further data collection was still essential to achieve data saturation. I organized the data by reviewing the entire data set, creating a code table, separating data into groups by categories, organizing responses from the interviews, interpreting the data, and developing conclusions and findings from the study.

Castleberry and Nolen (2018) explained that it is essential write down impressions of the participant to find meanings. Collins and Stockton (2018) added that the researcher's role in organizing and interpreting the data is essential because misinterpretation can mislead the reader and result in a faulty conclusion. Using the member checking helped to improve the accuracy, validity, and credibility of the study. Organizing the data were necessary to connect ideas, responses, strategies, identify patterns, and make connections. Brear (2019) explained that member checking is a very important technique for the qualitative researcher to ensure the validity of the study by checking the interpreted results with participants. The member checking process is essential to engage the participant in the study by providing the collected information is accurate and to expand or amend any comments or answers in the interview data (Glegg, 2019).

## **Data Organization Technique**

In a qualitative research study, the data organization is as important as the study to maintain interview responses, audio recordings, handwritten notes, and organizational documents. Canter (2019) explained that researchers must develop a qualitative data structure when conducting a study to collect data and adequately organize it for analysis. Adams et al. (2017) explained that qualitative researchers produce a large amount of detailed information that result in rich understanding. Davidson et al. (2017) stated that in a qualitative study, the researcher must choose the most appropriate data collection method and plan to record and properly store the collected data. I used a computer-based qualitative data analysis software with NVivo to organize, analyze, and find insights from the semistructured interviews. Wilk et al. (2019) explained that NVivo is a software that researchers use to organize articles, social media, and web connections to help review the data more easily and quickly. Wilk added that NVivo is valuable for data analysis, managing, labeling, coding, and navigating data. Robins and Eisen (2017) explained that NVivo is a powerful tool for qualitative researcher to use to reach efficiency, multiplicity, and transparency in the research study.

In a qualitative study, coding is a way for researcher to collect data to quickly locate the information and find relations between the collected data. I organized the data by reviewing the entire data set, creating a code table, and separating data into groups or categories to better organize the participant's responses. Vaughn and Turner (2016) explained that to have a practical analysis of the qualitative data, the researcher must use a systematic process to organize and highlight meanings by using a coding system to

organize the data in a patterns or themes easily and systematically. Collecting and storing data were essential to having accurate, well organized, complete, and accessible data.

Wyburn (2018) explained that personal and sensitive data like names, dates, locations, and sensitive topics must be securely stored to protect the participants information and their companies. Keeping an electronic copy of the recorded audio interviews and the transcript on a USB drive was essential, all notes, copies of the informed consent forms, and company documents locked in a file cabinet in my home office for 5 years. After 5 years, I will shred all paper documents and destroy the USB drive.

### **Data Analysis**

In qualitative studies, a researcher starts to analyze the collected data after the data collection is finalized and no new information can be collected. Darmayanti et al. (2018) explained that qualitative researchers conduct in-depth interviews with participants and choose the appropriate data collection from different resources. Vaughn and Turner (2016) added that sorting and coding data are the most complex aspects of qualitative research and that researchers must be able to handle a large volume of information using the best tools. Canter (2019) indicated that the researcher must prioritize the data collected to locate the data and report accurate results. For this study, I used methodological triangulation to examine the data from different sources. Joslin and Muller (2016) indicated that researchers use methodological triangulation to show that collected data from various sources are consistent to improve the research's validity by combining different techniques in one study.

Yin's 5-step approach to data analysis is used to analyze technique to interview data (Yin, 2018). Yin's (2018) five steps of analyzing data include: (a) compiling the data, (b) disassembling the data, (c) reassembling the data, (d) interpreting the meaning of the data, and (e) concluding the data. I put the data into groupings, the collected data were coded based on the frequency of the words used in answers. I disassembled the data to reduce theme of the phenomenon, I reassembled the data into core themes. Checking the pattern to interpret the meaning of the data collected was essential to have my final conclusion of the data. After analyzing the data, a conclusion can be made based on the findings from the data analysis and the literature review (Yin, 2018). Comparing and aligning the literature findings and the data collected and represent my findings from the data analysis was essential. I continued to research and review recently published literature related to developing the employee skills up to the present time.

Researching new themes is part of my plan to align any new theme it to my study and research question. Emailing each participant, a copy of the summary review from the interview was essential to provide them with opportunity to review their response and email me back their feedback if everything is fine or if they want to make any changes to the transcript. I revised the interview summary and document notes based on how the participant changed their response. I took notes during each interview to transcribe each participant interview and I used NVivo computer-based software to organize, analyze, and find insights from the semistructured interviews. Vaughn and Turner (2016) explained that to have a practical analysis of the qualitative data, the researcher must use a systematic process to organize and highlight meanings by using a coding system to

organize the data in a patterns or themes to easily organize a large amount of qualitative data systematically. Researchers use NVivo because it is a great tool to analyze the big, text based, online information, and recorded audio for comprehensive review (Wilk et al., 2019). I used NVivo software to identify themes or patterns in the data collected and code the data collected. Greenwood and Shields (2017) explained that the researcher must use data cleaning to maintain transparency through careful documentation of the process to ensure reliability of the study.

## Reliability and Validity

Mohajan (2017) stated that validity and reliability are the two most essential features in evaluating any good research measurements. Yeong et al. (2018) explained that reliability is about the study's consistency, while validity is about the accuracy of the study. Udod et al. (2017) added that reliability and validity are closely related, but they have a different meaning to assess the quality of the collected data in the study. To achieve reliability, it was crucial to set aside personal experience to avoid favoritism in my research and the data collected. Member checking and methodological triangulation provided more valid interpretation of the data collected. Reporting accurate answers from participant interviews was necessary for reliability and validity. Kilicer et al. (2017) stated that qualitative research's validity and reliability indicate consistency and trustworthiness when collecting data and interviewing participants.

## Reliability

Spiers et al. (2018) stated that reliability in qualitative research is rooted in the idea of data adequacy, which shows how consistent the data collected is with participants

and research outcome. Mohajan (2017) explained that reliability is faith in the data obtained, which involves organizing the research's data and consistency. Yin (2018) noted four steps to achieve reliability: (a) dependability, (b) creditability, (c) confirmability, and (d) transferability. FitzPatrick (2019) explained that dependability in a reliable study means if the work were repeated, in the same context, with the same methods and same participants, similar results would be obtained. I approached each interview in the same fashion and asked participants the same question in the same order. I conducted member checking and have each participant review my interview summary for dependability.

Emailing each participant, a copy of a rough draft was important to identify any misinterpretation and approve the precision of the data collected. Each participant reviewed my summary of their interview to ensure that I accurately captured their responses and increased my study's dependability. Five semi-structured interviews were scheduled, but if data saturation is not achieved, I had a plan to continue with additional interviews until no new data or themes emerge. Reaching data saturation improved the dependability of the study. My interpretation of the data collected were shared with each participant to review their interview summary for accuracy, which was vital to increase the study's dependability.

## Validity

Mohajan (2017) explained that validity includes what an instrument measures and how well the instrument tool reflects the research topic. Joslin and Muller (2016) stated that researchers could use data triangulation by researching multiple perspectives to

promote validity. I analyzed the collected data from the semistructured interviews, taken notes from personal observations during each interview, and collected organization documents. Naidu and Prose (2018) stated that credibility involves the internal validity of the data collected by trusting the researcher's reported data and interview answers. Naidu and Prose added that the lack of credibility could make it difficult for other researchers to benefit from the study and determine the study's findings. I used my handwritten notes and listened to the audio recordings to transcribe the participant's interview. Taking notes was vital to share the summary review collected after each interview with each participant to make any corrections to the reported answers to ensure credibility.

Moser and Korstjens (2017) explained that transferability in qualitative research provides the readers with evidence and that the research could be applicable at different times, situations, and populations. Constantinou et al. (2017) stated that the researcher needs to assess the qualitative study's transferability by explaining the phenomenon explored and contents used to allow the study to be safely applied to other similar cases. Constantinou et al. (2017) also indicated that the researcher could provide the reader with evidence that the data could spread to other studies. I gave a thorough description of the research context and the study's assumptions and limitations to allow transferability of the study.

Abdalla et al. (2018) explained that it is essential for the researcher to ensure confirmability of the study by verifying the findings with the participants to ensure using the participant's narrative and words rather than the researchers' biases. Ellis (2019) stated that confirmability in a qualitative study is to verify that the findings are shaped by

participants more than it is shaped by the researcher's view of the study. Confirmability was achieved through member checking. My interpretation of the data collected were shared with participants for accuracy and any revisions made if needed. Data saturation occurred when the researcher collected all the required information, and no new information can be collected (Tran et al., 2017). Trans et al. indicated if researching data saturation is an indication that the researcher has sufficient information for the research study. If data saturation was not met within the first 5 interviews, I planned to continue with interviews until no new themes emerge. I achieved data saturation when no further information or themes emerge during the semistructured interviews.

# **Transition and Summary**

Section 2 contained the purpose statement of my study, a detailed explanation of the role as the researcher, criteria, and a description of the participants. Section 2 also contained the research method and design, population and sampling, ethical research, the data collection instruments, data collection techniques, data organization technique, data analysis, and the steps to ensure the reliability and validity of the data collected. Section 3 contains the presentation of findings, application to professional practice, the implication for social change, the recommendation for action, recommendation for further study, and a conclusion of the research.

# Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change Introduction

The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore strategies call center leaders use to develop employees' skills. The target population comprised five leaders from two Southern California call centers who had successfully implemented strategies to improve employees' skills. The data came from semistructured virtual interviews using Zoom and from company documents. Each participant provided indepth information about their experience and the issues they experienced in developing employees' skills. I transcribed the recorded data and conducted a member checking process to decrease bias and increase the validity and reliability of the study's findings. I used NVivo software to organize, code, and analyze data to find insights from the semistructured interviews. In addition to the discussions, I reviewed company documents that included the employee handbook, training structure, benefits package, and statistical reports. I also used a reflective journal from the observations collected from the interviews. The data analysis revealed four themes: training, effective communication, employee engagement, and proactive leadership.

# **Presentation of the Findings**

The overarching question for this study was the following; What strategies do call center leaders use to develop employees' skills and improve organizational performance? After receiving IRB approval from Walden University, I began the interview process in my study. I selected five participants from two call centers located in Southern California based on their experience with strategies to develop employees' skills and improve

organizational performance. I chose participants from the Directory of Call and Contact Centers. I sent an invitation email to participants to explain the purpose of the study, the criteria to join, and some sample questions. Before scheduling the interview with interested participants, I provided them with consent forms and noted that their participation would be voluntary. I recorded the audio interview on a recording device; after conducting the interviews, I transferred all recorded interviews to a USB drive to transcribe the data collected. I used the member checking process to ensure accurate interpretation of the interviewee's answers and establish credibility and trustworthiness. After participants validated the data, I compiled my data into themes using NVivo. The identified recurring themes from the interviews and company document include training, effective communication, employee engagement, and proactive leadership. To protect my participants' identities and their company's information, I used a code structure. I labeled my participants P1 through P5 and the call centers CO1 and CO2.

The conceptual framework for this study was the PIT developed by Swanson (1999), who described how the constant demand for high performance affects an organization's growth. The findings from the interviews summary, observation notes, and the company documents confirmed the findings of the literature review on the importance of investing in employees' training, having effective communication, keeping employees engaged, and having proactive leadership. The finding from this study contain emphasis on how essential the positive interactions between employee and leader are to strengthen the company, especially when leaders help develop their employees' skills because doing this can strengthen employee performance and dedication to the company.

Training is an essential aspect of developing employees' skills. Leaders in the current study mentioned different training methods, including the crucial initial training and continual training to enhance employees' performance. Having effective communication between employees and their leaders is essential to identify any problems faced and to solve work-related issues. Keeping employees engaged is another essential element to motivate individuals and recognize their hard work by showing appreciation to top performers. Proactive call center leaders work closely with their employees, set realistic goals and expectations, learn from the employees, and communicate effectively with employees to support them and reduce employee burnout. The data analysis resulted in four major themes (see Table 1).

**Table 1**Themes and Subthemes Found Through Interviews

Theme	Number of times counted	Subtheme	Number of times counted
	in transcript		in transcript
Theme 1: Training	47	Mandatory (initial) training	21
		Continual training	13
		Job rotation	13
Theme 2: Effective	43	Coaching	26
communication		Leadership feedback	17
Theme3: Employee	39	Motivation	12
engagement		Recognize (appreciation)	22
		Support	5
Theme 4: Proactive leadership	24	Set goals and expectations	14
		Problem-solving	10

*Note*. Most frequently used words identified within the interview transcripts developed with NVivo.

# **Theme 1: Training**

The first theme that emerged from the study was training. This viewpoint aligns with PIT under the design and development concept. Each participant stressed the importance of providing frequent training to employees. Training employees is a continual process that includes educational coursework, mentoring programs, soft skills training, and career development through job rotation (Naizm et al., 2021). Training employees keeps them engaged in the company and motivated to perform their job well to advance their career level and be the company's future leaders (Deepa & Rajasekar, 2021). The findings from this theme support findings from Saira et al. (2021) that training

employees helps identify the employee's weaknesses and allows leaders to provide a framework to develop strengths for better performance. Current participants' responses also confirm the research conducted by Anwar and Shukur (2015) on the importance of investing in employees' training to increase employees' efficiency and satisfaction.

# Mandatory Training

In response to Interview Question 6 on how training initiatives were introduced and implemented in the organization, all five participants discussed the importance of having a well-structured initial training that includes everything that company offers and what is expected from the newly hired employee to perform their job to the best of their ability. Sparr et al. (2017) explained the importance of initial mandatory training to prepare employees to fulfill their job duties, understand the company's policies and procedures, and start being productive. Naizm et al. (2021) explained that training employees impacts their creativity in the working environment, enhancing the company's performance. In the current study, P4 said

leaders in our company see the initial mandatory training to be like the contract between the company and the newly hired employee. We set clear steps in this training, starting from our company's history and going over what we offer to our customers and what the employee expects to be successful. We have a specific time each day to train employees on our software to enhance their skills. This introductory training helps our employees know what they will be doing to perform their duties correctly.

P1 also shared

we focus on the soft initial training skills to improve the employee's technical knowledge about a specific tool or software. If I see an employee struggling in any category of our monitoring metrics, I can recommend this employee for additional training. We have many online training models that we use to improve the employee's performance to be the top performers of the company.

P5 also stated that "the initial training is a way for employees to know more about the company's values, goals, mission, and vision." P2 said "the mandatory training is an opportunity to have social learning and motivate new employees to have group interactions." P5 added that "employees could not represent a company without knowing the essentials about it." P3 mentioned "there is a huge need to have an official classroom training to see the employee more and provide individual support to individuals." P1 added "the initial training helps leaders evaluate the employees' abilities to do the job by testing their abilities to learn quickly and support those struggling in any category of the monitoring metrics that company leaders track." Participants from both companies invested in employee classroom training by having a set curriculum during the initial training, including an online webinar, live online meetings, and recorded sessions to watch.

## Continual Training

All five participants stressed the need to keep training employees and continue to educate employees about new skills or update their existing skills to improve employees' productivity. Prasetio et al. (2019) explained that employees' continual training is essential to reduce repeated mistakes, improve low-performance issues, and improve

employees' reaction. Taskiran and Zhang (2017) explained that continuous training programs are an excellent way for leaders to enhance employees' knowledge and skills and help individuals get over their weaknesses by learning from their repeated mistakes.

## P1 claimed

we have such frequent changes in our products and services if the employee has enough knowledge about our products and services, they will explain it well to our callers and more minor errors will happen. We also focus on always having patience when talking to callers as we occasionally get unhappy callers. Having a positive attitude can help employees deal with irate callers, show empathy, and solve our callers' problems [to] have the best customer service rate.

#### P2 also added

continual training is essential to keep the employee's skills improving. I train my employees in every coaching session; I tend to find the areas that need improvement and train my agents to improve them. I send my agents to the training department if there is a significant area that needs improvement. I also teach my employees online by giving them some time off the phone to view videos and listen to webinars conducted about their struggling areas.

Prasetio et al. (2019) stated that continual cross-training is essential to enhance low performers' skills, increase employee retention, increase employees' loyalty to the company, and boost the company's productivity. P5 mentioned "continuous training could help lower the voluntary turnover intentions; when the company keeps investing in the employee's development, employees will feel more loyal to a company that cares

about their success." P3 explained that "cross-training is a great tool to reduce the stressful working environment by making employees more knowledgeable in their industry and push them to perform better in the future." P2 added that "improving the employees' skills through continuous training will increase their satisfaction and productivity." P4 said "continual training improves the employee's knowledge and skills along with allowing them to uncover their strengths and weaknesses." During my observations, I found that all participants spent considerable time discussing the need for continual trainings to employees. It was apparent that the participants care about their team members' performance through continual education to reach the top performers stage.

#### Job Rotation

Job rotation is another method for organization leaders to expose employees to different departments and tasks as part of the training and development. Al-Romeedy (2019) explained that exposing individuals to additional duties in various departments helps broaden employees' knowledge about the company from different views. H. Lee et al. (2019) added that improving employees' performance comes from practicing other tasks to learn new skills. P5 said

the company's leaders focus on motivating employees through job rotation to broaden their skill sets and extend their boundaries. Our callers enjoy talking to educated individuals who know their job and have a general knowledge about different departments in the company. Job rotation is a tool to increase employee engagement, improve performance, and keep employees loyal to the company.

Employees feel like an asset to the company when they feel engaged in many tasks and have the opportunity to advance their career level. P1 stated that "rotating employees is a great way to broaden their skills and motivate employees to explore different jobs within the company." P2 added that "when we rotate employees, we challenge them to learn new strategies and work with different managers to improve their soft skills." Thongpapanl et al. (2018) explained that job rotation promotes healthy and positive interdepartmental collaboration to improve employees' performance by exposing individuals to different tasks to help them gain new knowledge and skills. P4 explained that "job rotation is an excellent method to train employees to work in different company areas by rotating individuals to perform different duties to practice various tasks and responsibilities." P3 added that "we observe that rotating employees to be a great way to reduce the stressful working environment by doing a variety of work rather than doing the same task over and over."

#### **Theme 2: Effective Communication**

The second theme that emerged was effective communication. Effective communication at the workplace involves providing team members with directions and tools to follow. The findings from this theme confirm the research conducted by Mallin (2017) that explained the importance of using the PIT for effective communication between leaders and their team members in coaching sessions to reduce workplace conflict and enable a good communication plan. All five participants in the current study mentioned the importance of consistent coaching and leadership feedback with employees to improve their performance. The findings from this theme also support the

study conducted by Regts et al. (2019) that effective communication mitigates conflicts by reducing misunderstandings and miscommunication for better communication and higher employee engagement.

# **Coaching**

The purpose of coaching employees is to have effective two-way communication and develop a performance plan to maximize employees' strengths and improve their weaknesses. P1 stated

an essential method to improve the employee's strategies is to have effective communication with all employees. Being approachable is necessary to solve the employee's problem and keep employees more engaged in the company to be future leaders and perform better. I like to be an example for my employees to follow; having effective communication with my team members will improve their communication skills and help my team overcome any objections to be the top performers of the company.

Roman et al. (2017) explained that part of the PIT is having a good coaching plan to address performance objectives and helps in finding strategies to develop employees' skills. P2 added that "coaching sessions are one of the best opportunities for the team leader to get engaged with their team members to find areas that need improvement and train agents on how to improve them." Coaching sessions are small training sessions for employees who already have the knowledge and skills but lack some strategies. P3 said we work so hard with our agents to ensure their satisfaction and work closely with everyone through coaching and mentoring to improve their performance and keep

them engaged in the company. I set goals for my team members and provide all tools and resources to reach this goal. I set a personal goal for each individual based on the employee's current performance and skills. If my agent needs additional training, I provide quick coaching; if I still see my agent needs more training, I send a request to the training department to schedule additional classroom training.

Billings and Kowalski (2019) explained that it is crucial to have a productive coaching session that focuses on the possibilities and collaboration instead of just giving orders for better revenue. Effective coaching sessions should include the tools necessary for employees to perform better and advance their skills. P4 mentioned that "in a coaching session, the leader should provide the individual agent with directions on how to improve their performance by explaining the way and providing the necessary tools for the employee to follow this development plan." P5 shared,

We look at coaching sessions as an opportunity to learn from the employee and provide the individual with constructive feedback. It is a great way to keep my team members engaged in the team's current project and goals set with due dates. I also use these coaching sessions to motivate my team members and encourage employees to learn from top performers' recorded phone calls and share new vocabulary to increase customer satisfaction.

During my observations and the interviews, it was apparent that all five participants are dedicated to their job as they all cared about meeting their team members daily or being very approachable to coach and provide constructive feedback to each individual.

# Leadership Feedback

Leadership feedback is essential when coaching employees, as constructive suggestions can help improve their performance and enhance their skills. Poell and Van Der Krogt (2017) explained that leaders use the PIT to coach employees with more adaptive and constructive behaviors. There is a significant impact from the feedback that can get the employee to learn a new method by shedding light on something they never knew about or thought of to learn and change incorrect behaviors. P1 shared,

Our leaders should have two or three coaching sessions daily with different employees and monthly meetings with all employees. We use effective communication in our coaching and mentoring sessions. The team leader can identify their team members' strengths and weaknesses when running the employee statistics. Then the team leader provides constructive feedback to employees to overcome any challenges they have.

Pham et al. (2019) explained that leaders should provide their feedback in a way that is not offensive, argumentative, or authoritative. Instead, using impact feedback empowers the employees and increases the chance to accept the message. P5 mentioned that "leadership feedback needs to be specific, not too vague, by precisely explaining the action and changing it to productive behavior." P4 added that "leaders must encourage individuals by providing more positive than negative feedback when the agent tries their best to learn and advance their skills." P3 said.

Employees get lost when they don't know what is expected; providing clear instructions and continual feedback is essential to ensure that everyone is on

track. Asking an agent not to go below these statistical data isn't enough; we should provide directions and tools for agents to follow their goals and advance their career level.

During my observation, participants stressed the importance of taking enough time to ensure that every agent is on track by looking at the employees' statistics and provide feedback on possible improvements and recommendations.

# **Theme 3: Employee Engagement**

The third theme that all participants confirmed were employee engagement. Employee engagement comes from the leadership motivation and recognition to recognize those hard-working employees and provide the support needed for the employees' success. The findings from this theme supports the research by Pham et al. (2019) as it explained that leaders should keep employees engaged in producing higher quality and higher productivity results. Yan et al. (2021) also added that keeping employee's engaged helps improve the organizational performance by having dedicated individuals working for the company. He et al. (2019) added that engaged employees would work hard and perform better since they are motivated to do the work. P5 shared,

We work hard to keep employees engaged in our company by encouraging individuals to advance their career level and be the company's future leaders. We appreciate those hard-working employees through a variety of incentives programs throughout the year to motivate employees. We allow employees to get creative and celebrate those agents that exceed expectations through the employee recognition program.

Keeping employees engaged is proven to increase productivity, satisfaction, physical well-being, and mental abilities. There are different ways that leaders can use to keep employees engaged in the development process. Leaders must allow employees to grow, support, encourage individuals, and recognize their efforts when they show dedication to the company.

#### Motivate

Leaders should recognize and show appreciation to those employees that meet and exceed expectations. Many employees do not want to work harder since their leaders are not motivating them and recognizing their hard work. Bondarchuk (2018) stated that leaders should invest in keeping employees engaged in increasing their knowledge and skills and allowing employees to be more innovative. P4 mentioned that they motivate employees through running monthly incentives and reward those high-performing employees. P3 stated that "it is essential to work closely with each team member by encouraging individuals to advance their skills by participating in the training, coaching, and mentoring opportunities." P2 added that "leaders should not expect the employee to do better unless they keep pushing their team members by supporting and motivating each one; this can be done through setting goals and offering incentives to those achieving their goals."

## Recognize

Recognizing the employee for a job well done is essential as appreciated individuals feel compelled to continue working harder. Montani et al. (2020) explained that employees perform much better when leaders recognize their efforts and hard work.

P2 explained that "the company appreciates those hard-working employees and provides the tools necessary to improve their performance to continue being the best." P3 added that "we recognize those hard-working individuals by offering monetary rewards, prizes, vacation packages, and certificates of achievements." P1 said, "we appreciate those dedicated employees by thanking them publicly in front of the entire office, taking them out to lunch, throwing a party to celebrate them, and offering significant rewards by the end of the fiscal year to those top performers."

## Support

Supporting the employee by providing enough tools like training, coaching, mentoring, and meeting with employees is vital to keeping all team members on track.

Lin et al. (2018) explained that leaders need to support their employees through communication to empower them and build their strengths. P1 explains that "effective communication through coaching and the mentoring session is a great tool to keep employees engaged." P2 added that "providing enough training and tools for success will increase customer service skills, leading to better performance and a higher engagement rate." P4 stated,

I enjoy listening to my employees and offer my help and support to those individuals struggling with any part of their duties. My feedback and support through coaching and training help my employees grow their skills and advance their careers.

Supportive managers will set goals, motivate individuals, recognize achievements, support, and assist employees in advancing their skills and giving them

room to grow. Leaders should work closely with their team members to strengthen them and support those in need by utilizing available tools and resources within the company. During my observation, I witnessed a phone call from the team lead to one of my participants, my participant took time to explain steps and lead the situation even after the working hours.

# **Theme 4: Proactive Leadership**

The fourth theme discovered from the study was proactive leadership, which reflects the importance of the leader to take enough time to identify risks, goals and work on problem-solving. The findings from this theme confirms the research by Jyoti and Rani (2019) and by Yan et al. (2021) as it explained that proactive leaders inspire their team members by having clear goals, provide tools, respect employees, have plans to solve problems. P1 shared,

I have a proactive approach when evaluating the effectiveness of my strategies in developing the employees' skills. I tend to look at the statistics and see how each employee is doing; I set goals for each employee, even high performers, to continue improving. I train, coach, and mentor my employee to reach these goals. I keep track of the employee's performance and assist those struggling with any aspect of their duties.

Proactive leaders spend time thinking about the big picture by learning from the past to improve the present and better plan for the future. P4 explained that using the company's statistics can help set realistic goals according to trends and data recorded. P5 added that "leaders must hold some skills to lead by example; one of the essential traits of

a proactive leader is to stay in control in difficult situations." Proactive leaders need to set realistic goals, support the development plan, trust their team members, stay calm within the storm, and always have a backup plan (Huang et al., 2020).

# Set Goals and Expectations

Proactive leaders must have a clear plan that includes achievable goals, motivate individuals to reach their goals, and communicate desired results (Jyoti & Rani, 2019). P4 mentioned that "it is essential for leaders to provide constructional feedback and help employees struggling to achieve their goals by offering suggestions and use tools for improvement." P3 added that "leaders should keep motivating their team members by inspiring individuals with high commitment and performance." P2 added that "leaders should collaborate to develop their team members by setting beneficial goals for the company and providing the directions for employees to achieve these goals." To set goals and expectations, the leader will need to identify the team's strengths and weaknesses to choose areas for improvement and set a road map to achieve these goals. P1 mentioned that "the employees' statistics are a great way to identify the team's strengths and weaknesses to find improvements." P4 said,

I create a list of goals that my team is looking to achieve then I sent a plan for every team member to achieve these personal goals. I use the S.M.A.R.T system by having specific goals, measurable, attainable, relevant, and time-bound. I keep editing the S.M.A.R.T goals and might modify them to prioritize some goals over others. When I'm ready to answer any questions and have a complete plan, I explain these goals to my team members with guidance on how to follow it.

During my observation of the company's document, I found in the objectives of CO1 the importance of having a clear set of goals and objectives for their employees and how the company works hard with their employees to accomplish these objectives.

# **Problem-Solving**

One of the essential traits of a proactive leader is to be comfortable with problem-solving. Effective problem-solving is a critical attribute in the leader to gain respect from every team member and keep employees loyal to the company (Mitchell et al., 2019). Proactive leaders do not guess solutions but take the time to research, assess the situation, and look for a way to get back on track. Solving work-related issues on time can reduce any stress at the workplace and increase the employees' satisfaction rate. P5 shared,

We face some challenges when there are conflicts between team members and with their team leaders. After identifying the issue and understanding everyone's interest, I list possible solutions to fix this problem. I evaluate my options and document them. I communicate promptly with both parties involved, and we look for common ground by agreeing on solutions with possible contingencies. I always keep monitoring the situation to ensure that it is not happening again.

Employees can learn and advance their skills from their leaders when they witness them solving the problem, as employees need to know to solve problems with customers. Putri and Gorda (2019) explained that leaders need to talk to employees and discuss work-related issues to solve them as employees learn to use the same skills to be better problem solvers. Often, employees quit working in the company because of their leaders' activities and actions; being a better leader will increase the chance that employees will

be loyal to the company and committed to better performance. Employees feel engaged and strongly connected to develop their career within the company when their leaders are setting a great example of guidance, behavior and inspiring everyone to be a better performer.

## **Performance Improvement Theory**

Swanson's (1999) PIT was the conceptual framework for this study. The comprehensive view of the PIT is based on improving organizational performance by providing performance feedback, training, incentives, support systems, and improving the work environment (Roman et al., 2017). The findings from the research and interviews extend knowledge to the peer-reviewed studies and the PIT used in this study. One of the key concepts in the PIT is performance analysis by identifying the performance plan for the team member to identify strengths and weaknesses (Swanson, 1999). Studying statistics to identify teams' strengths and weaknesses and using the intervention selection to develop strategic plans for performance improvement are essential parts of the PIT.

The performance plan in the PIT includes a leadership design and development to improve the employees' performance by using the tools provided to be innovative (Darrat et al., 2016). Team leaders in the PIT should implement a change plan to enhance the employees' skills and produce better results (Savaneviciene & Vilciauskaite, 2017). The final step in the PIT is an evaluation; in the evaluation step team leaders evaluate employees' next stage in the development plan and set higher goals to continue improving employees' performance (Lin et al., 2018). The study findings help me extend literature with specific examples for how proactive leaders use their expertise when

setting goals and expectations along with problem-solving proving these skills are inspirational to their employees and contribute significantly to high performance and a long-term employee commitment to their company.

# **Applications to Professional Practice**

Organizational leaders in call centers can apply the study findings to explore different strategies to develop employee skills, improve organizational performance, and reduce turnover intentions. The findings of this study support previous research on different strategies to promote employee efficiency and performance. Based on the research results, multiple training methods, effective communication, keeping employees engaged, and proactive leadership are essential elements for continual employee development. Svitlana and Nataliia (2019) stated that the organizational and development process includes workplace coaching, mentoring, apprenticeship, motivation, incentives, rotation, and numerous practical professional trainings. Investing in improving the employees' skills keeps employees engaged, enhances employees' skills, attracts more talent to join the company, and helps the organization expand and grow.

Call center leaders implementing strategies to develop the employees' skills could increase the employees' retention rate, higher satisfaction rate, and increase employee engagement. Findings from this study may be helpful to managers who have been unsuccessful in developing employees' skills and improving organizational performance. One way leaders can encourage employee engagement and satisfaction is when they set clear and realistic goals and expectations. Leaders can improve organizational performance when they assist employees and solve their work-related problems to reduce

any burnout. Jyoti and Rani (2019) stated that organizational leaders need to set achievable goals and provide the directions and assistance for their team members to achieve these goals. Utilizing strategies to improve employees' performance might help leaders to retain talented employees, increase productivity, and keep employees motivated to advance their careers.

# **Implications for Social Change**

The findings from this study may contribute to positive social change by developing employee skills, keep employees motivated to be more productive, and encourages employees to advance their career level to be the future leaders of the company. Offering different types of training, is essential to continue the employee development process. Effective communication between the leader and each team member is vital; to boost teamwork to project collaboration. Effective communication can be done through coaching and providing adequate feedback to support the employee's improvement plan. Leaders should keep employees engaged in the company is vital to continue motivating employees for their hard work, appreciate their efforts and support their improvements. Proactive leadership is important as the leader is the one who guides the individual to set realistic goals and expectations along with solving any work problems to reduce the stressful working environment, which sometimes leads to a higher turnover intention (Jyoti & Rani, 2019). Rohim and Budhiasa (2019) stated that individuals feel more connected to their companies when their leaders acknowledge their hard work and motivate them. Motivated individuals tend to be energy-driven, evident by their work ethic; they seemed committed to improving company revenue, and appear

socially happy (Lin et al., 2018). Highly trained employees recognized by their leaders are likely to stay with the company; the results might reduce the unemployment rate, stabilize communities, and improve the local economy. When employees are happier at work, they are also socially more pleased with their homes. Individuals who are more confident at work is often depicted in their personal lives.

## **Recommendations for Action**

The following recommendations for further action to improve employees' skills and increase the company's performance arise from the study findings. Call center leaders must invest in training employees by offering mandatory initial training, continual training, and job rotation to expose employees to different tasks that is proven to enhance employee performance. Investing in the employee's development may improve the employee's daily work, resulting in better outcomes, such as enhanced organization performance. Effective communication between leaders and their team members is essential to keep coaching, mentoring, and provide feedback to employees to improve their skills. All participants in this study explained the need for leaders to motivate and appreciate employees for their hard work and improvement persistence. Leaders must find the best method to encourage employees, recognize those hard-workers and provide the support needed for struggling employees to keep everyone on track. Proactive leadership is crucial to solve employee's problems promptly and reduce any stressful working environment. Setting realistic goals and expectations from the leaders to their team members is vital to keeps the employee's motivation up and encourage individuals to improve and level up their performance.

Upon completion of the research, I plan to disseminate the findings from this study by sharing a copy of the presentation of the findings with my participants. In addition, my study findings will be published by Walden University in the ProQuest/UMI dissertation database. My goal is to present the findings from this study by participating in academic and professional conferences, and business seminars sponsored by organizations. I also plan to gain approval to share excerpts of my study findings within the Human Resources Management Journal, Journal of Management Development, and the Journal of Leadership Education.

#### **Recommendations for Further Research**

This qualitative multiple case study aimed to explore strategies call center leaders to use to develop employee skills and improve organizational performance. Initially, one of my limitations was the leaders' ability to answer all questions truthfully without concealing confidential facts about the organization. I addressed that by going to the website to confirm some of their answers and by verifying the organizational documents provided by the participants. Secondly, another limitation I listed was the participants' discomfort in disclosing information about how they are developing employees' skills. Since I used the virtual meeting format, participants were comfortable stating facts without any pressure otherwise evident if they were in face-to-face meetings. My last limitation was that my previous employment as a call center employee might have potentially influenced the research approach and analysis of the data collected. Therefore, I recommend that the researcher not have prior experience in the call center for future research I mitigated any personal bias by not inserting my personal thoughts and opinions

from my call center experience and listening closely to what is being said by each participant

The research study findings were limited to the target population comprises leaders from two Southern California call centers. The research study does not include other geographical regions or other types of business other than a call center. My recommendation for further research is to study different strategies to improve employee's performance in different types of business other than call centers, and to broaden the geographical areas to include more regions. Another recommendation for further research is to consider using the quantitative method and gather the experience from a large population of participants in a more expanded geographical area.

#### Reflections

Earning a doctoral degree was one of my dreams since I was young. I faced many challenges to pursue my dream when I worked full-time and became a mother of three children. However, my dream goal to continue my education and earn a doctoral degree was always in my mind as a goal that I will need to finish one day. My amazing God was leading every step of my way. Despite the much criticism I received from some family members to focus on my full-time job and stop my education after my Masters' study, God had a plan for me by using my beloved husband and my amazing older girl to support and encourage me throughout the study.

Walden University Doctor of Business Administration program made my dream come true. My study at Walden University equipped me to learn from a set of classes aiming directly at the field I am studying. I was able to have a comprehensive view of my

specialization, improve my research styles, writing skills, paraphrasing, interviewing participants, and link theory to professional practice. The Doctor of Business Administration program was challenging, and very rewarding as I learned many skills. I learned to avoid bias by having any prejudiced beliefs about call centers from my prior experience. After this in-depth study, I see myself equipped with many skills and strategies to improve employee performance from the participants' responses and literature reviews. I will use my prior experience and the findings of this study to advance my future profession.

#### Conclusion

Improving employees' skills is an essential aspect in enhancing organizational performance. Improving employees' skills is critical to a better profit, organizational growth, higher productivity, increased engagement, and an improved retention rate when employees are well developed by following a strategic development plan. The development of future call center leaders requires a proactive approach. Proactive leaders are significant contributors toward the success of their organizations. Additionally, proactive leaders work closely with their employees providing the appropriate tools and support needed for employee improvement. Leaders from the two chosen call centers in Southern California participated in semistructured interviews. Four main themes emerged after collecting and analyzing the data: (a) training, (b) effective communication, (c) employee engagement, and (d) proactive leadership. The findings from this study indicated that the leaders who use these development strategies improve employees' skills and enhance the company's performance.

#### References

- Abdalla, M., Oliveira, L., Azevedo, C., & Gonzalez, R. (2018). Quality in qualitative organizational research: Types of triangulations as a methodological alternative. *Administration of Teaching and Research*, 19(1), 66–69.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.13058/raep.2018.v19n1.57834">https://doi.org/10.13058/raep.2018.v19n1.57834</a>
- Adams, J., Napier, S., & Neville, S. (2017). Perceptions of the oldest old about engaging in a rural community: Implications for health and well-being. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 6(1), 1–59.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406916688525">https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406916688525</a>
- Adashi, E. Y., Walters, L. B., & Menikoff, J. A. (2018). The Belmont Report at 40:

  Reckoning with time. *American Journal of Public Health*, 108(10), 1345–1348.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2018.304580">https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2018.304580</a>
- Aliyu, O., & Nyadzayo, M. (2018). Reducing employee turnover intention: A customer relationship management perspective. *Journal of Strategic Marketing*, 26(3), 241–257. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/0965254X.2016.1195864">https://doi.org/10.1080/0965254X.2016.1195864</a>
- Al-Romeedy, B. (2019). The role of job rotation in enhancing employee performance in the Egyptian travel agents: The mediating role of organizational behavior.

  \*Tourism Review International, 74(4), 1003–1020. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1108/TR-10-2018-0153">https://doi.org/10.1108/TR-10-2018-0153</a>
- Alwi, F., Setiawan, B., & Asrizal, B. (2018). Original article: Quality of life of persons with permanent colostomy: A phenomenological study. *Journal of Coloproctology*, 38(4), 295–301. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcol.2018.06.001

- Anwar, G., & Shukur, I. (2015). The impact of training and development on job satisfaction: A case study of private banks in Erbil. *International Journal of Social Sciences & Educational Studies*, 2(1), 65–72. https://doi.org/70a26aa4a8de4b4fa4575016b6e417c0
- Asadullah, M., Peretti, J., Derbel, W., & Rajhi, S. (2019). Ownership-based asymmetries in training evaluation practices of call centers. *Industrial and Commercial Training*, 51(1), 13–23. https://doi.org/10.1108/ICT-06-2018-0056
- Aslam, U., Muqadas, F., Kashif Imran, M., & Rahman, U. (2018). Investigating the antecedents of work disengagement in the workplace. *Journal of Management Development*, 37(2), 149–164. https://doi.org/10.1108/JMD-06-2017-0210
- Atanasoff, L., & Venable, M. (2017). Technostress: Implications for adults in the workforce. *Journal of Career Development*, 65(4), 65–69.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1002/cdq.12111">https://doi.org/10.1002/cdq.12111</a>
- Bakker, A. B. (2017). Strategic and proactive approaches to work engagement.

  \*Organizational Dynamics\*, 46(2), 67–75.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.orgdyn.2017.04.002">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.orgdyn.2017.04.002</a>
- Banerjee-Batist, R., & Reio, G. (2016). Attachment and mentoring: Relations with junior faculty's organizational commitment and intent to turnover. *Journal of Management Development*, 35(3), 360–381. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1108/JMD-02-2015-0015">https://doi.org/10.1108/JMD-02-2015-0015</a>
- Bansal, P., Smith, K., & Vaara, E. (2018). New ways of seeing through qualitative research. *Academy of Management Journal*, 61(4), 1189–1195.

# https://doi.org/10.5465/amj.2018.4004

- Behm, J., Waite, B. R., Hsieh, S. T., & Helmus, M. R. (2018). Benefits and limitations of three-dimensional printing technology for ecological research. *BMC Ecology*, 18(1), 18–32. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1101/283895">https://doi.org/10.1101/283895</a>
- Benoot, C., Hannes, K., & Bilsen, J. (2016). The use of purposeful sampling in a qualitative evidence synthesis: A worked example on sexual adjustment to a cancer trajectory. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, 21(1), 16–21. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12874-016-0114-6
- Billings, M., & Kowalski, K. (2019). Differentiating mentoring from coaching and precepting. *Journal of Continuing Education in Nursing*, 50(11), 493–494. https://doi.org/10.3928/00220124-20191015-04
- Bondarchuk, N. (2018). Basic factors affecting the quality of human capital.

  \*Percarpathian National University, 2(14), 136–141.

  https://doi.org/10.15330/apred.2.14.136-141
- Boţoc, C., Vătavu, S., & Gheorghe, L. (2019). Is continuous training relevant to employees and sustainable development? *Series Economic Sciences*, 19(1), 365–370. <a href="https://ideas.repec.org/a/ovi/oviste/vxixy2019i1p365-370.html">https://ideas.repec.org/a/ovi/oviste/vxixy2019i1p365-370.html</a>
- Brear, M. (2019). Process and outcomes of a recursive, dialogic member checking approach: A project ethnography. *Qualitative Health Research*, *29*(7), 944. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732318812448">https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732318812448</a>
- Brett, F., Uhl, M., Huang, L., & Carsten, M. (2016). Goal orientation and employee resistance at work: Implications for manager emotional exhaustion with the

- employee. *Journal of Occupational & Organizational Psychology*, 89(1), 611–633. https://doi.org/10.1111/joop.12144
- Brueton, V., Stenning, S. P., Stevenson, F., Tierney, J., & Rait, G. (2017). Best practice guidance for the use of strategies to improve retention in randomized trials developed from two consensus workshops. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology*, 89(3), 122–132. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclinepi.2017.05.010
- Buck, J. (2017). Retention remedy: Building a sense of community through appreciative inquiry. *Nursing Management*, 48(4), 9–12. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.NUMA.0000514065.22949.2a
- Buist, Y., Rijken, M., Lemmens, L., Baan, C., & De Bruin, S. (2019). Collaborating on early detection of frailty: A multifaceted challenge. *International Journal of Integrated Care*, 19(2), 1–10. <a href="https://doi.org/10.5334/ijic.4176">https://doi.org/10.5334/ijic.4176</a>
- Canter, D. (2019). Qualitative structural theory: A basis for decision making.

  \*International Studies of Management & Organization, 49(3), 265–282.

  https://doi.org/10.1080/00208825.2019.1627705
- Carr, L., Holmes, W., & Flynn, K. (2017). Using mentoring, coaching, and self-mentoring to support public school educators. *Clearing House*, *90*(4), 116–124. https://doi.org/10.1080/00098655.2017.1316624
- Castleberry, A., & Nolen, A. (2018). Thematic analysis of qualitative research data: Is it as easy as it sounds? *Currents in Pharmacy Teaching & Learning*, 10(6), 807–815. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cptl.2018.03.019
- Collins, C. S., & Stockton, C. M. (2018). The central role of theory in qualitative

- research. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods, 17*(1), 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406918797475
- Comi, A., & Whyte, J. (2017). Future making and visual artefacts: An ethnographic study of a design project. *Organization Studies*, *39*(8), 1055–1083. https://doi.org/10.1177/0170840617717094
- Constantinou, C., Georgiou, M., & Perdikogianni, M. (2017). A comparative method for themes saturation in qualitative interviews. *Qualitative Research*, 17(5), 571–588. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/146874116686650">https://doi.org/10.1177/146874116686650</a>
- Cosgrave, C., Maple, M., & Hussain, R. (2018). An explanation of turnover intention among early-career nursing and allied health professionals working in rural and remote Australia findings from a grounded theory study. *Rural and Remote Health*, 18(1), 3–18. <a href="https://doi.org/10.22605/RRH4511">https://doi.org/10.22605/RRH4511</a>
- Cullen-Lester, L., Maupin, K., & Carter, R. (2017). Incorporating social networks into leadership development: A conceptual model and evaluation of research and practice. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 28(1), 130–152.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2016.10.005">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2016.10.005</a>
- Cumyn, A., Ouellet, K., Cote, A.-M., Francoeur, C., & St-Onge, C. (2018). Role of researchers in the ethical conduct of research: A discourse analysis from different stakeholder perspectives. *Ethics & Behavior*, *3*(1), 1–16.

  https://doi.org/10.1080/10508422.2018.1539671
- Darmayanti, D., Simatupang, T., & Rudito, P. (2018). Lessons learned for novice researcher from a qualitative study of a case on continuous ambulatory peritoneal

- dialysis. *International Journal of Medical Research and Health Sciences*, 7(5), 106–111. <a href="https://www.ijmrhs.com">https://www.ijmrhs.com</a>
- Darrat, A., Gray, S., Park, C., & Wu, Y. (2016). Corporate governance and bankruptcy risk. *Journal of Accounting, Auditing & Finance, 31*(2), 163–202. https://doi.org/10.1177/0148558X14560898
- Davidson, J., Thompson, S., & Harris, A. (2017). Qualitative data analysis software practices in complex research teams: Troubling the assumptions about transparency and portability. *Qualitative Inquiry*, 23(1), 779–788.

  https://doi.org/10.1177/1077800417731082
- Deepa, S. R., & Rajasekar, D. (2021). A Study on employees training and development with reference to information technology companies in Chennai. *Ilkogretim Online*, 20(4), 1865–1871. <a href="https://doi.org/10.17051/ilkonline.2021.04.209">https://doi.org/10.17051/ilkonline.2021.04.209</a>
- Delery, J. (2017). Strategic human resource management, human capital and competitive advantage. *Human Resources Management Journal*, 27(1), 1–21. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1111/1748-8583.12137">https://doi.org/10.1111/1748-8583.12137</a>
- Detsimas, N., Coffey, V., Sadiqi, V., & Li, M. (2016). Workplace training and generic and technical skill development in the Australian construction industry. *Journal of Management Development*, 35(4), 486–504. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1108/JMD-05-2015-0073">https://doi.org/10.1108/JMD-05-2015-0073</a>
- Dewi, L., & Kartowagiran, B. (2018). An evaluation of internship program by using

  Kirkpatrick evaluation model. *Research and Evaluation in Education*, 2(1), 155–

  159. <a href="https://doi.org/10.21831/reid.v4i2.22495">https://doi.org/10.21831/reid.v4i2.22495</a>

- Dhanpat, N., Madou, F. D., Lugisani, P., Mabojane, R., & Phiri, M. (2018). Exploring employee retention and intention to leave within a call center. *SA Journal of Human Resource Management*, *16*(1), 13–19.

  https://doi.org/10.4102/sajhrm.v16i0.905
- DiGirolamo, A., & Tkach, T. (2019). An exploration of managers and leaders using coaching skills. *Consulting Psychology Journal: Practice and Research*, 71(3), 195–218. https://doi.org/10.1037/cpb0000138
- Dodd, M. (2018). Globalization, pluralization, and erosion: the impact of shifting societal expectations for advocacy and public good. *Journal of Public Interest*Communications, 2(2), 221–238. https://doi.org/10.32473/jpic.v2.i2.p221
- Domingo-Ferrer, J., Farràs, O., Ribes-González, J., & Sánchez, D. (2019). Privacy-preserving cloud computing on sensitive data: A survey of methods, products and challenges. *Computer Communications*, 26(4), 38–60.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.comcom.2019.04.011">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.comcom.2019.04.011</a>
- El-Huni, A., Colonio Salazar, F. B., Sharma, P. K., & Fleming, P. S. (2019).

  Understanding factors influencing compliance with removable functional appliances: A qualitative study. *American Journal of Orthodontics & Dentofacial Orthopedics*, 155(2), 173–181. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajodo.2018.06.011">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajodo.2018.06.011</a>
- Ellis, P. (2019). The language of research: Understanding the quality of a qualitative paper. *Wounds UK*, *15*(1), 110–111. <a href="https://www.wounds-uk.com">https://www.wounds-uk.com</a>
- Ellstrom, E., & Ellstrom, P. (2018). Two modes of learning-oriented leadership: a study of first-line managers. *Journal of Workplace Learning*, 30(7), 545–561

# https://doi.org/10.1108/JWL-03-2018-0056

- Erkutlu, H., & Chafra, J. (2019). Leader psychopathy and organizational deviance: The mediating role of psychological safety and the moderating role of moral disengagement. *International Journal of Workplace Health Management*, *4*(1), 197–199. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJWHM-12-2018-0154
- Esensoy, A., & Carter, M. W. (2015). Health system modelling for policy development and evaluation: Using qualitative methods to capture the whole-system perspective. *Operations Research for Health Care*, *4*(1), 15–26. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.orhc.2014.12.002">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.orhc.2014.12.002</a>
- Evertz, L., & Sub, S. (2017). The importance of individual differences for applicant attraction: A literature review and avenues for future research. *Management Review Quarterly*, 67(3), 141–152. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/s11301-017-0126-2">https://doi.org/10.1007/s11301-017-0126-2</a>
- Fang, Y., Chen, J., Zhang, X., Dai, X., & Tsai, F. (2020). The impact of inclusive talent development model on turnover intention of new generation employees: The mediation of work passion. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 17(60), 6054. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17176054
- Farrugia, B. (2019). Write a scientific paper; Sampling in qualitative research. *Early Human Development*, 133(1), 69–71. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.earlhumdev.2019.03.016
- Fernandez, C., Noble, C., Jensen, E., Martin, L., & Stewart, M. (2016). A retrospective study of academic leadership skill development, retention and use: The experience of the food systems leadership institute. *Journal of Leadership*

- Education, 15(2), 150–171. https://doi.org/10.12806/V15/I2/R4
- Fischer, M. (2015). Motivational climate in United States army reserve officer training corps physical training: Implications for leadership development, retention, and intervention. *Procedia Manufacturing*, *3*(1), 1595–1602.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.promfg.2015.07.447">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.promfg.2015.07.447</a>
- FitzPatrick, B. (2019). Validity in qualitative health education research. *Currents in Pharmacy Teaching & Learning*, 11(2), 211–217.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cptl.2018.11.014">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cptl.2018.11.014</a>
- Fogarty, J., Reinstein, A., Heath, A., & Sinason, H. (2017). Why mentoring does not always reduce turnover: The intervening roles of value congruence, organizational knowledge and supervisory satisfaction. *Advances in Accounting*, 38(1), 63–74. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.adiac.2017.07.004">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.adiac.2017.07.004</a>
- Freche, D., Naim-Feil, J., Peled, A., Levit-Binnun, N., & Moses, E. (2018). A quantitative physical model of the TMS-induced discharge artifacts in EEG. *Plos Computational Biology*, *14*(7), 61–77. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pcbi.1006177
- Friesen, P., Kearns, L., Redman, B., & Caplan, A. L. (2017). Rethinking the Belmont Report? *The American Journal of Bioethics: AJOB, 17*(7), 15–21. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/15265161.2017.1329482">https://doi.org/10.1080/15265161.2017.1329482</a>
- Frottas, D. J., & Nummelin, M. R. (2018). Theory X/Y in the health care setting: employee perceptions, attitudes, and behaviors. *Health Care Manager*, *37*(2), 109–117. https://doi.org/10.1097/HCM.0000000000000010

- Gill, H., Pauline, J., Kieran, W., & Chris, S. (2015). Analyzing organizational context:

  Case studies on the contribution of absorptive capacity theory to understanding inter-organizational variation in performance improvement. *BMJ Quality & Safety in Health Care*, 24(1), 48–55. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjqs-2014-002928
- Glegg, S. (2019). Facilitating interviews in qualitative research with visual tools: A typology. *Qualitative Health Research*, 29(2), 301–310. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732318786485
- Goode, T., Lamoreaux, M., Atchison, J., Jeffress, C., Lynch, L., & Sheehan, E. (2018).

  Quantitative skills, critical thinking, and writing mechanics in blended versus face-to-face versions of a research methods and statistics course. *Teaching of Psychology*, 45(2), 124–131. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/0098628318762873">https://doi.org/10.1177/0098628318762873</a>
- Greenwood, M., & Shields, K. (2017). An introduction to data cleaning using internet search data. *Australian Economic Review*, 50(3), 363–372. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-8462.12235">https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-8462.12235</a>
- Griffith, J. A., Baur, J. E., & Buckley, M. R. (2019). Creating comprehensive leadership pipelines: Applying the real options approach to organizational leadership development. *Human Resource Management Review*, 29(3), 305–315. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.hrmr.2018.07.001
- Groenewald, T. (2018). Reflection/commentary on a past article: A phenomenological research design illustrated. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods, 17*(1), 1–3. https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406918774662
- Guo, Y., Zhang, Y., Liao, J., Guo, X., Liu, J., Xue, X., & Zhang, Y. (2017). Negative

- feedback and employee job performance: Moderating role of the big five. *Social Behavior and Personality*, 45(10), 1735–1744. https://doi.org/10.2224/sbp.6478
- Hancock, M. E., Amankwaa, L., Revell, M. A., & Mueller, D. (2016). Focus group data saturation: A new approach to data analysis. *Qualitative Report*, 21(1), 2124–2130. <a href="https://nsuworks.nova.edu">https://nsuworks.nova.edu</a>
- Harker, K. R., Otoole, E., & Sassen, C. (2018). Assessing an academic library professional development program. *Portal: Libraries and the Academy, 18*(1), 199–223. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1353/pla.2018.0010">https://doi.org/10.1353/pla.2018.0010</a>
- Hastings, L. (2016). Intersecting asset-based service, strengths, and mentoring for socially responsible leadership. *New Directions for Student Leadership*, 20(15), 85–96. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1002/yd.20173">https://doi.org/10.1002/yd.20173</a>
- He, H., Chao, M., & Zhu, W. (2019). Cause-related marketing and employee engagement: The roles of admiration, implicit morality beliefs, and moral identity. *Journal of Business Research*, 95(1), 83–92.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2018.10.013">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2018.10.013</a>
- Heponiemi, T., Hietapakka, L., Kaihlanen, A., & Aalto, A. (2019). The turnover intentions and intentions to leave the country of foreign-born physicians in Finland: A cross-sectional questionnaire study. *BMC Health Services Research*, 19(1), 16–24. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-019-4487-1">https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-019-4487-1</a>
- Heslop, C., Burns, S., & Lobo, R. (2018). Managing qualitative research as insider-research in small rural communities. *Rural and Remote Health*, *18*(3), 45–57. <a href="https://doi.org/10.22605/rrh4576">https://doi.org/10.22605/rrh4576</a>

- Hesse, A., Ospina, P., Wieland, M., Yepes, F. A. L., Nguyen, B., & Heuwieser, W.
  (2019). Short communication: Microlearning courses are effective at increasing the feelings of confidence and accuracy in the work of dairy personnel. *Journal of Dairy Science*, 102(10), 9505–9511. https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.2018-15927
- Heydari, M., Taghva, F., Amini, M., & Delavari, S. (2019). Using Kirkpatrick's model to measure the effect of a new teaching and learning methods workshop for health care staff. *BMC Research Notes*, 19(1), 10–13. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1186/s13104-019-4421-y">https://doi.org/10.1186/s13104-019-4421-y</a>
- Ho, D., Arendt, W., Zheng, T., & Hanisch, A. (2016). Exploration of hotel managers' training evaluation practices and perceptions utilizing Kirkpatrick's and Phillips's models. *Journal of Human Resources in Hospitality & Tourism*, 15(2), 184–208. https://doi.org/10.1080/15332845.2016.1084861
- Holland, P., Cooper, B., & Sheehan, C. (2016). Employee voice, supervisor support, and engagement: The mediating role of trust. *Human Resource Management*, *56*(1), 915–929. https://doi.org/10.1002/hrm.21809
- Huang, J. L., Liao, C., Li, Y., Liu, M., & Biermeier-Hanson, B. (2020). Just What you need: The complementary effect of leader proactive personality and team need for approval. *Journal of Business & Psychology*, 35(4), 421–434.
  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/s10869-019-09635-w">https://doi.org/10.1007/s10869-019-09635-w</a>
- Hudson, S., González-Gómez, H. V., & Rychalski, A. (2017). Call centers: Is there an upside to the dissatisfied customer experience? *Journal of Business Strategy*, 38(1), 39–46. https://doi.org/10.1108/jbs-01-2016-0008

- Hussain, B., & Amin, K. (2020). Talent management practices and organizational commitment mediating role of job satisfaction. *Journal of Managerial Sciences*, 14, 33–43. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1108/ER-11-2019-0429">https://doi.org/10.1108/ER-11-2019-0429</a>
- Ismael, F., & Yesiltas, M. (2020). Sustainability of CSR on organizational citizenship behavior, work engagement and job satisfaction: Evidence from Iraq. *Revista de Cercetare Si Interventie Sociala*, 71, 212–249. https://doi.org/10.33788/rcis.71.15
- Jang, Y., & Marshall, E. (2018). The effect of type of feedback in multiple-choice testing on long-term retention. *Journal of General Psychology*, 145(2), 107–119. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/00221309.2018.1437021">https://doi.org/10.1080/00221309.2018.1437021</a>
- Jimenez, M. E., Hudson, S. V., Lima, D., & Crabtree, B. F. (2019). Engaging a community leader to enhance preparation for in-depth interviews with community members. *Qualitative Health Research*, 29(1), 270–278.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732318792848">https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732318792848</a>
- Joe, S., Hung, W., Chiu, C., Lin, C., & Hsu, Y. (2018). To quit or not to quit. *Personnel Review*, 47(5), 1067–1081. https://doi.org/10.1108/PR-04-2017-0124
- Johnston, J. H., Phillips, H. L., Milham, L. M., Riddle, D. L., Townsend, L. N.,

  DeCostanza, A. H., & Fitzhugh, S. M. (2019). A team training field research

  study: Extending a theory of team development. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 26(1),

  1–18. <a href="https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2019.01480">https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2019.01480</a>
- Jonny, J. (2016). Training effectiveness at PT XYZ using Kirkpatrick Model and return on investment of training. *Business Review*, 2(1), 137–141.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.21512/bbr.v7i2.1728">https://doi.org/10.21512/bbr.v7i2.1728</a></a>

- Joslin, R., & Muller, R. (2016). Identifying interesting project phenomena using philosophical and methodological triangulation. *International Journal of Project Management*, 34(6), 1043–1056. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijproman.2016.05.005
- Jyoti, J., & Rani, A. (2019). Role of burnout and mentoring between high performance work system and intention to leave: Moderated mediation model. *Journal of Business Research*, 98(1), 166–176. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2018.12.068
- Kampkotter, P., Harbring, C., & Sliwka, D. (2018). Job rotation and employee performance evidence from a longitudinal study in the financial services industry.

  International Journal of Human Resource Management, 29(10), 1709–1735.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/09585192.2016.1209227">https://doi.org/10.1080/09585192.2016.1209227</a>
- Kendrick, K. D. (2017). The low morale experience of academic librarians: A phenomenological study. *Journal of Library Administration*, *57*(1), 846–878. https://doi.org/10.1080/01930826.2017.1368325
- Khalid, K., & Nawab, S. (2018). Employee participation and employee retention in view of compensation. *Sage Open, 8*(4), 17–19. https://doi.org/10.1177/2158244018810067
- Kilgus, S. P., Eklund, K., & von der Embse, N. P. (2019). Psychometric defensibility of the intervention selection profile-social skills (ISP-SS) with students at risk for behavioral concerns. *Psychology in the Schools*, *56*(4), 526–538.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1002/pits.22214">https://doi.org/10.1002/pits.22214</a>
- Kilicer, K., Coklar, A. N., & Ozeke, V. (2017). Cyber human values scale: The study of development, validity and reliability. *Internet Research*, 27(5), 1255–1274.

## https://doi.org/10.1108/IntR-10-2016-0290

- Kim, S., Im, J., & Hwang, J. (2015). The effects of mentoring on role stress, job attitude, and turnover intention in the hotel industry. *International Journal of Hospitality*Management, 48(1), 68–82. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhm.2015.04.006
- Kirdina-Chandler, S. (2017). Institutional Matrices Theory, or X- and Y-Theory: A response to F. Gregory Hayden. *Journal of Economic Issues*, *51*(2), 476–485. https://doi.org/10.1080/00213624.2017.1321428
- Kirkpatrick, D. L. (1959). Techniques for Evaluation Training Programs. *Journal of the American Society of Training Directors*, 13, 21–26.

  <a href="https://www.kirkpatrickpartners.com/">https://www.kirkpatrickpartners.com/</a>
- Krutsinger, C., Yadav, N., Cooney, E., Brooks, S., Halpern, D., & Courtright, R. (2019).

  A pilot randomized trial of five financial incentive strategies to increase study enrollment and retention rates. *Contemporary Clinical Trials Communications*, 15(1), 4–6. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.conctc.2019.100390">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.conctc.2019.100390</a>
- Lacerenza, N., Reyes, L., Marlow, L., Joseph, L., & Salas, E. (2017). Leadership training design, delivery, and implementation: A meta-analysis. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 102(12), 1686–1718. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1037/apl0000241.supp">https://doi.org/10.1037/apl0000241.supp</a>
- La Duke, P. (2017). How to evaluate training: Using the Kirkpatrick Model. *Professional Safety*, 62(8), 20–21. <a href="https://www.wordpress.com">https://www.wordpress.com</a>
- Lawter, L., Kopelman, R. E., & Prottas, D. J. (2015). McGregor's Theory X/Y and job performance: A multilevel, multi-source analysis. *Journal of Managerial Issues*, 27(1), 84–101. <a href="https://www.jstor.org">https://www.jstor.org</a>

- Lee, H., Ahn, R., Kim, H., & Han, E. (2019). Impact of obesity on employment and wages among young adults: Observational study with panel data. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 16(1), 7–16.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph16010139">https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph16010139</a>
- Lee, X., Yang, B., & Li, W. (2017). The influence factors of job satisfaction and its relationship with turnover intention: Taking early-career employees as an example. *Journal of Psychology*, 33(3), 697–707.

  https://doi.org/10.6018/analesps.33.3.238551
- Lejeune, C., Mercuri, D., Beausaert, S., & Raemdonck, I. (2016). Personal development plans supporting employee learning and perceived performance: The moderating role of self-directedness. *Human Resource Development International*, 19(4), 307–328. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/13678868.2016.1203639">https://doi.org/10.1080/13678868.2016.1203639</a>
- Lejonberg, E., & Tiplic, D. (2016). Clear mentoring: Contributing to mentees' professional self-confidence and intention to stay in their job. *Mentoring & Tutoring: Partnership in Learning*, 24(4), 290–305. https://doi.org/10.1080/13611267.2016.1252110
- Li, F., Deng, H., Leung, K., & Zhao, Y. (2017). Is perceived creativity-reward contingency good for creativity? The role of challenge and threat appraisals. 

  \*Human Resources Management, 56(1), 693–709.\*

  https://doi.org/10.1002/hrm.21795
- Lin, S., Chen, X., Ashford, J., Lee, C., & Qian, J. (2018). A self-consistency motivation analysis of employee reactions to job insecurity: The roles of organization-based

- self-esteem and proactive personality. *Journal of Business Research*, 92(1), 168–178. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2018.07.028
- Liu, Z., Ge, L., & Peng, W. (2016). How organizational tenure affects innovative behavior? The role of culture difference and status determinants. *Nankai Business Review International*, 7(1), 99–126. https://doi.org/10.1108/NBRI-01-2016-0001
- Lockwood, J. (2018). Theorizing communications coaching in Asian contact centers: what is the approach? *Industrial and Commercial Training*, 50(1), 312–325. https://doi.org/10.1108/ICT-05-2018-0045
- Lukyanenko, R., Parsons, J., Wiersma, Y. F., & Maddah, M. (2019). Expecting the unexpected: Effects of data collection design choices on the quality of crowdsourced user-generated content. *MIS Quarterly*, *43*(1), 623–647. <a href="https://doi.org/10.25300/MISQ/2019/14439">https://doi.org/10.25300/MISQ/2019/14439</a>
- Ma, Q., Mayfield, M., & Mayfield, J. (2018). "Keep them on-board! How organizations can develop employee embeddedness to increase employee retention",

  \*Development and Learning in Organization, 33(4), 5–9.

  https://doi.org/10.1108/DLO-11-2017-0094
- Maity, S. (2019). Identifying opportunities for artificial intelligence in the evolution of training and development practices. *Journal of Management Development*, *3*(8), 651–663. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1108/JMD-03-2019-0069">https://doi.org/10.1108/JMD-03-2019-0069</a>
- Mallin, M. L. (2017). When performance improvement coaching for your salesperson goes badly? A conceptual approach to dealing with negative reactions.

  \*Development and Learning in Organizations: An International Journal, 31(4), 5—

## 8. https://doi.org/10.1108/dlo-11-2016-0103

- Marshall, A. P., Wake, E., Weisbrodt, L., Dhaliwal, R., Spencer, A., & Heyland, D. K. (2016). A multi-faceted, family-centered nutrition intervention to optimize nutrition intake of critically ill patients: The OPTICS feasibility study. *Australian Critical Care*, 29(2), 68–76. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aucc.2015.10.011">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aucc.2015.10.011</a>
- Martins, N., & Nienaber, H. (2018). The influence of time on employee engagement in the SA business environment. *International Journal of Productivity and Performance Management*, 67(9), 1682–1702. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1108/ijppm-11-2017-0299">https://doi.org/10.1108/ijppm-11-2017-0299</a>
- Mayhan, J. (2017). Make an impact with development plans. *Nursing Management*, 48(7), 11–13. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.NUMA.0000520729.31915.ce
- McGregor, D. (1956). A Theory of worker motivation for management: Contemporary psychology. *A Journal of Reviews, 1*(7), 200–202. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1037/005352">https://doi.org/10.1037/005352</a>
- Meena, K., & Vanka, S. (2017). Developing an empirical typology of diversity-oriented human resource management practices. *Journal of Management Development*, 36(7), 915–929. https://doi.org/10.1108/JMD-02-2016-003
- Men, L. R., & Robinson, K. L. (2018). It's about how employees feel! Examining the impact of emotional culture on employee–organization relationships. *Corporate Communications: An International Journal*, 23(4), 470–491.
  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1108/ccij-05-2018-0065">https://doi.org/10.1108/ccij-05-2018-0065</a>
- Mihaela, H. (2017). Drivers of firm performance: Exploring quantitative and qualitative approaches. *Studies in Business & Economics*, 12(1), 79–84.

## https://doi.org/10.1515/sbe-2017-0006

- Mijovic, B., Racic, M., Tanaskovic, M., Stanic, S., & Bojanic, J. (2018). Research steps in qualitative study implementation. *International Journal of Qualitative*Methods, 9(1), 122–131. <a href="https://doi.org/10.7251/BII1801122M">https://doi.org/10.7251/BII1801122M</a>
- Mitchell, C., Guy, R., Fournel, A., Treille, A., & De Koning, M. (2019). Affective learning for effective communication. TIPA. *Travaux Interdisciplinaires Sur La Parole et Le Langage*. 10(1), 34–40. https://doi.org/10.4000/tipa.3297
- Mohajan, K. (2017). Two criteria for good measurements in research: Validity and reliability. *University Economic Series*, *17*(4), 59–82. https://doi.org/10.26458/1746
- Montani, F., Boudrias, J.-S., & Pigeon, M. (2020). Employee recognition,
  meaningfulness and behavioral involvement: Test of a moderated mediation
  model. *The International Journal of Human Resource Management*, 31(3), 356–
  384. https://doi.org/10.1080/09585192.2017.1288153
- Moser, A., & Korstjens, I. (2017). Series: Practical guidance to qualitative research. Part 3: Sampling, data collection and analysis. *European Journal of General Practice*, 24(1), 9–18. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/13814788.2017.1375091">https://doi.org/10.1080/13814788.2017.1375091</a>
- Mousavi, S. A., Hoşkara, E., & Woosnam, K. (2017). Developing a model for sustainable hotels in Northern Cyprus. *Sustainability*, *9*(11), 1–23. https://doi.org/10.3390/su9112101
- Muldoon, J., Keough, S. M., & Lovett, S. (2018). The mediating role of workplace attitudes on the leader–member exchange, turnover intention relationship. *The*

- Psychologist Manager Journal, 21(4), 229–248. https://doi.org/10.1037/mgr0000079
- Naidu, K., & Prose, N. (2018). Re-envisioning member checking and communicating results as accountability practice in qualitative research. *Qualitative Social Research*, 19(3), 1–15. https://doi.org/10.17169/fqs-19.3.3153
- Naizm, M., Nadeem, A. H., Sharif, M. S., Zeb, N., Ghazanfar, S., & Ali, M. (2021). Does intrinsic motivation mediate the impact of employee training on employee creativity? The moderation model of task complexity. *Ilkogretim Online*, 20(4), 1622–1632. https://doi.org/10.17051/ilkonline.2021.04.185
- Nerstad, C. G., Dysvik, A., Kuvaas, B., & Buch, R. (2018). Negative and positive synergies: On employee development practices, motivational climate, and employee outcomes. *Human Resource Management*, *57*(1), 1–18.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1002/hrm.21904">https://doi.org/10.1002/hrm.21904</a>
- Noe, R. A. (2020). Employee Training and Development. McGraw-Hill Education.
- Norris, J., van der Mars, H., Kulinna, P., Amrein-Beardsley, A., Kwon, J., & Hodges, M. (2017). Physical education teacher perceptions of teacher evaluation. *Physical Educator*, 74(1), 22–41. https://doi.org/10.18666/TPE-2017-V74-I1-6882
- Oliveira, B., Cavazotte, F., & Dunzer, R. (2019). The interactive effects of organizational and leadership career management support on job satisfaction and turnover intention. *International Journal of Human Resource Management*, 30(10), 1583–1603. https://doi.org/10.1080/09585192.2017.1298650
- O'Sullivan, E. D., & Schofield, S. J. (2019). A cognitive forcing tool to mitigate

- cognitive bias a randomized control trial. *BMC Medical Education*, *19*(1), 121–9. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12909-018-1444-3
- Palinkas, A., Horwitz, M., Green, A., Wisdom, P., Duan, N., & Hoagwood, K. (2016).

  Purposeful sampling for qualitative data collection and analysis in mixed method implementation research. *Administration and Policy in Mental Health and Mental Health Services Research*, 42(1), 533–544. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/s10488-013-0528-y">https://doi.org/10.1007/s10488-013-0528-y</a>
- Pham, L., Teng, I., Friesner, D., Li, K., Wu, E., Liao, Y., & Chu, L. (2019). The impact of mentor-mentee rapport on nurses' professional turnover intention: Perspectives of social capital theory and social cognitive career theory. *Journal of Clinical Nursing*, 28(14), 2669–2680. https://doi.org/10.1111/jocn.14858
- Pilkington, H. (2018). Employing meta-ethnography in the analysis of qualitative data sets on youth activism: A new tool for transnational research projects? *Qualitative Research*, 18(1), 108–130. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/1468794117707805">https://doi.org/10.1177/1468794117707805</a>
- Pillai, R., & Sivathanu, B. (2020). Adoption of artificial intelligence (AI) for talent acquisition in IT/ITeS organizations. *Benchmarking: An International Journal*, 27(9), 2599–2629. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1108/BIJ-04-2020-0186">https://doi.org/10.1108/BIJ-04-2020-0186</a>
- Poell, R., & Van Der Krogt, F. (2017). Why is organizing human resource development so problematic? *Learning Organization*, 24(1), 180–193. https://doi.org/10.1108/TLO-12-2016-0093
- Posey, C. N. (2019). Job-shock influence on call-center turnover. *Performance Improvement*, 58(5), 22–32. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1002/pfi.21866">https://doi.org/10.1002/pfi.21866</a>

- Prasetio, A., Azis, E., & Anggadwita, G. (2019). Exploring compensation satisfaction to enhance motivation and reduce turnover intention among employee of private bottled water company in Indonesia. *Journal of Business Management*, 20(1), 32–48. https://doi.org/10.24198/jbm.v20i1.274
- Putri, L., & Gorda, A. (2019). Influence of job satisfaction and organizational commitment on leader member exchange and empowerment of behavior in organization. *Russian Journal of Agricultural and Socio-Economic Sciences*, 10(1), 79–86. <a href="https://doi.org/10.18551/rjoas.2019-10.10">https://doi.org/10.18551/rjoas.2019-10.10</a>
- Ramovs, J., Ramovs, A., & Svetelsek, A. (2019). Informal careers training: In-group social learning as an effective method for quality care empowerment. *Frontiers in Sociology*, 3(1), 19–21. <a href="https://doi.org/10.3389/fsoc.2019.00063">https://doi.org/10.3389/fsoc.2019.00063</a>
- Rana, S., Ardichvili, A., & Taing, S. K. (2017). National human resource development in a transitioning society: The case of Cambodia. *Human Resource Development International*, 20(2), 127–146. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/13678868.2016.1243937">https://doi.org/10.1080/13678868.2016.1243937</a>
- Rauschenbach, I., Keddis, R., & Davis, D. (2018). Poster development and presentation to improve scientific inquiry and broaden effective scientific communication skills. *Journal of Microbiology & Biology Education*, 19(1), 11–14. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1128/jmbe.v19i1.1511">https://doi.org/10.1128/jmbe.v19i1.1511</a>
- Regts, G., Molleman, E., & van de Brake, J. (2019). The impact of leader–member exchange on follower performance in light of the larger social network. *Human Relations*, 72(8), 1265–1291. https://doi.org/10.1177/0018726718806351
- Ro, H., & Lee, E. (2017). Call center employees' intent to quit: Examination of job

- engagement and role clarity. *Journal of Quality Assurance in Hospitality & Tourism*, 18(4), 531–543. https://doi.org/10.1080/1528008X.2017.1292163
- Robins, S., & Eisen, K. (2017). Strategies for the effective use of NVivo in a large-scale study: Qualitative analysis and the repeal of don't ask, don't tell. *Qualitative Inquiry*, 23(10), 768–778. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/1077800417731089">https://doi.org/10.1177/1077800417731089</a>
- Rohim, A., & Budhiasa, S. (2019). Organizational culture as moderator in the relationship between organizational reward on knowledge sharing and employee performance. *Journal of Management Development*, 38(7), 538–560. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1108/JMD-07-2018-0190">https://doi.org/10.1108/JMD-07-2018-0190</a>
- Roman, D. J., Osinski, M., & Erdmann, R. H. (2017). Quality and productivity: A substantive theory on the implementation process of operational performance improvement methods. *Revista De Administração (Administration Magazine)*, 52(1), 148–162. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rausp.2016.12.005
- Rutberg, S., & Bouikidis, C. (2018). Exploring the evidence. Focusing on the fundamentals: A simplistic differentiation between qualitative and quantitative research. *Nephrology Nursing Journal*, 45(2), 209–213.

  <a href="https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov">https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov</a>
- Saira, S., Mansoor, S., Ishaque, S., Ehtisham, S., & Ali, M. (2021). Training effectiveness and employee outcomes: A study of an Australian manufacturing organization.

  \*European Journal of Training & Development, 45(5), 301–319.

  https://doi.org/10.1108/EJTD-03-2020-0052
- Salterio, S., Kenno, S., & Mccracken, S. A. (2017). Financial reporting qualitative

- interview-based research: A primer with an illustrative example. *Behavior Research in Accounting*, 29(1), 77–102. <a href="https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.2792438">https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.2792438</a>
- Sanjeev, R., & Singh, A. (2017). Talent management for developing leadership: An empirical investigation. *Independent Journal of Management & Production*, 8(3), 11–30. <a href="https://doi.org/10.14807/ijmp.v8i3.630">https://doi.org/10.14807/ijmp.v8i3.630</a>
- Santhanam, N., Kamalanabhan, J., Dyaram, L., & Ziegler, H. (2017). Impact of human resource management practices on employee turnover intentions: Moderating role of psychological contract breach. *Journal of Indian Business Research*, 9(3), 212–228. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1108/JIBR-10-2016-0116">https://doi.org/10.1108/JIBR-10-2016-0116</a>
- Satardien, M., Jano, R., & Mahembe, B. (2019). The relationship between perceived organizational support, organizational commitment and turnover intention. *South African Journal of Human Resource Management*, 17(1), 1–8.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.4102/sajhrm.v17i0.1123">https://doi.org/10.4102/sajhrm.v17i0.1123</a>
- Sato, H. (2018). Are call centers sweatshops? *Annals of Business Administrative Science*, 17(5), 193–202. https://doi.org/10.7880/abas.0180830a
- Saunders, B., Sim, J., Kingstone, T., Baker, S., Waterfield, J., Bartlam, B., & Jinks, C. (2018). Saturation in qualitative research: Exploring its conceptualization and operationalization. *Quality & quantity*, 52(1), 1893–1907.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/s11135-017-0574-8">https://doi.org/10.1007/s11135-017-0574-8</a></a>
- Savaneviciene, A., & Vilciauskaite, B. (2017). Practical application of exclusive and inclusive talent management strategy in companies. *Business, Management & Education*. *15*(2), 242–260. <a href="https://doi.org/10.3846/bme.2017.366">https://doi.org/10.3846/bme.2017.366</a>

- Schmidt, J. A., Pohler, D., & Willness, C. R. (2017). Strategic HR system differentiation between jobs: The effects on firm performance and employee outcomes. *Human Resource Management*, *57*(1), 65–81. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1002/hrm.21836">https://doi.org/10.1002/hrm.21836</a>
- Selden, C., & Sowa, E. (2015). Voluntary turnover in nonprofit human service organizations: The impact of high-performance work practices. *Human Service Organizations Management Leadership & Governance*, 39(3), 182–207. https://doi.org/10.1080/23303131.2015.1031416
- Shannonhouse, L. R., Barden, S. M., & McDonald, C. P. (2017). Mixed methodology in group research: Lessons learned. *Journal for Specialists in Group Work, 42*(1), 87–107. https://doi.org/10.1080/01933922.2016.1264521
- Sherman, R. O. (2019). The art of giving feedback. *AJN American Journal of Nursing*, 119(9), 64–68. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.NAJ.0000580292.79525.d2
- Shi, Y., Dokshin, A., Genkin, M., & Brashears, E. (2017). A Member saved is a member earned? The recruitment-retention trade-off and organizational strategies for membership growth. *American Sociological Review, 82*(2), 407–434.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/0003122417693616">https://doi.org/10.1177/0003122417693616</a>
- Smith, S. L., Saunders, G. H., Chisolm, T. H., Frederick, M., & Bailey, B. A. (2019).
  Examination of individual differences in outcomes from a randomized controlled clinical trial comparing formal and informal individual auditory training programs. *Journal of Speech, Language & Hearing Research*, 59(4), 876–886.
  https://doi.org/10.1044/2016\_JSLHR-H-15-0162
- Sozpsychol, K. (2017). Bring together, combine and mix: Qualitative and quantitative

- methods in modern research practices. *The Monitoring of Public Opinion Economic & social Changes*, 69(2), 107–131. https://doi.org/10.14515/monitoring.2017.3.03
- Sparr, J. L., Knipfer, K., & Willems, F. (2017). How leaders can get the most out of formal training: The significance of feedback-seeking and reflection as informal learning behaviors. *Human Resource Development Quarterly*, 28(1), 29–54. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1002/hrdq.21263">https://doi.org/10.1002/hrdq.21263</a>
- Spiers, J., Morse, J., Olson, K., Mayan, M., & Barrett, M. (2018).

  Reflection/Commentary on a past article: Verification strategies for establishing reliability and validity in qualitative research. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*. 17(1), 1–2. https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406918788237
- Steffens, K., Yang, J., Jetten, J., Haslam, A., & Lipponen, J. (2018). The unfolding impact of leader identity entrepreneurship on burnout, work engagement, and turnover intentions. *Journal of Occupational Health Psychology*, 23(3), 373–387. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1037/ocp0000090">https://doi.org/10.1037/ocp0000090</a>
- Sun, X., Gou, Z., Lu, Y., & Tao, Y. (2018). Strengths and weaknesses of existing building green retrofits: Case study of a LEED EBOM gold project. *Energies*, 11(8), 1–18. https://doi.org/10.3390/en11081936
- Surmiak, A. (2018). Confidentiality in qualitative research involving vulnerable participants: Researchers' perspectives. *Qualitative Social Research*, 19, 3–5. <a href="https://doi.org/10.17169/fqs-19.3.3099">https://doi.org/10.17169/fqs-19.3.3099</a>
- Susanto, W. (2019). The evaluation of the implementation of preceptorship model

- training in RUSD nabire with Kirkpatrick Approach. *Directory of Open Access Journals*, 10(1), 35–42. https://doi.org/10.21927/jnki.2018.6(3).35-42
- Svitlana, I., & Nataliia, N. (2019). Features of the enterprise professional personnel training organization. *Modern Economics*, 14, 87–91. https://doi.org/10.31521/modecon.V14(2019)-14
- Swanson, R. A. (1999). The foundations of performance improvement and implications for practice. *Advances in Developing Human Resources, 1*(1), 1–25. https://doi.org/10.1177/152342239900100102
- Tan, S., Teo, A., Pei, Y., Sng, H., Yap, W., Toh, P., & Krishna, R. (2018). A framework for mentoring of medical students: Thematic analysis of mentoring programmers between 2000 and 2015. *Advances in Health Sciences Education: Theory and Practice*, 23(4), 671–697. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/s10459-018-9821-6">https://doi.org/10.1007/s10459-018-9821-6</a>
- Taskiran, K., & Zhang, X. (2017). Mathematical models and solution approach for cross-training staff scheduling at call centers. *Computers and Operations Research*, 87(1), 258–269. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cor.2016.07.001
- Thongpapanl, N., Kaciak, E., & Welsh, D. (2018). Growing and aging of entrepreneurial firms: Implications for job rotation and joint reward. *International Journal of Entrepreneurial Behavior & Research*, 24(6), 1087–1103.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1108/IJEBR-03-2018-0135">https://doi.org/10.1108/IJEBR-03-2018-0135</a></a>
- Tran, T., Porcher, R., Tran, C., & Ravaud, P. (2017). Predicting data saturation in qualitative surveys with mathematical models from ecological research. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology*, 82(1), 71–78.

## https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclinepi.2016.10.001

- Tsoh, Y., Kuo, K., Barr, W., Whitcanack, L., Merry, I., Alldredge, K., & Azzam, N. (2019). Developing faculty leadership from "within": A 12-year reflection from an internal faculty leadership development program of an academic health sciences center. *Medical Education Online*, 24(1), 56–72. https://doi.org/10.1080/10872981.2019.1567239
- Turcotte-Tremblay, A.-M., & McSween-Cadieux, E. (2018). A reflection on the challenge of protecting confidentiality of participants while disseminating research results locally. *BMC Medical Ethics*, *19*(1), 19–45.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1186/s12910-018-0279-0">https://doi.org/10.1186/s12910-018-0279-0</a></a>
- Turner, J. R., & Baker, M. (2016). Updating performance improvement's knowledge base: A call to researchers and practitioners using gilbert's behavior engineering model as an example. *Performance Improvement*, 55(6), 7–12.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1002/pfi.21590">https://doi.org/10.1002/pfi.21590</a>
- Udod, A., Cummings, G., Care, D., & Jenkins, M. (2017). Impact of role stressors on the health of nurse managers: A western Canadian context. *Journal of Nursing Administration*, 47(1), 159–164.
  https://doi.org/10.1097/NNA.0000000000000459
- U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics. (2019). *Job Openings and Labor Turnover Summary*.

  <a href="http://www.bls.gov">http://www.bls.gov</a>
- U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. (1979). *The Belmont Report*. <a href="http://www.hhs.gov">http://www.hhs.gov</a>

- Valle, M. A., & Ruz, G. A. (2015). Turnover prediction in a call center: Behavioral evidence of loss aversion using random forest and naïve Bayes Algorithms.

  \*Applied Artificial Intelligence, 29(1), 923–942.

  https://doi.org/10.1080/08839514.2015.1082282
- Vasileiou, K., Barnett, J., Thorpe, S., & Young, T. (2018). Characterizing and justifying sample size sufficiency in interview-based studies: Systematic analysis of qualitative health research over a 15-year period. *BMC Medical Research Methodology, 18*(1), 148–166. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12874-018-0594-7
- Vat, L. E., Ryan, D., & Etchegary, H. (2017). Recruiting patients as partners in health research: A qualitative descriptive study. *Research Involvement and Engagement,* 3(1), 1–14. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1186/s40900-017-0067-x">https://doi.org/10.1186/s40900-017-0067-x</a>
- Vaughn, P., & Turner, C. (2016). Decoding via coding: Analyzing qualitative text data through thematic coding and survey methodologies. *Journal of Library Administration*, 56(1), 41–51. https://doi.org/10.1080/01930826.2015.1105035
- Vercic, A. T., & Vokic, N. P. (2017). Engaging employees through internal communication. *Public Relations Review*, *43*(5), 885–893. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pubrev.2017.04.005
- Vergel, J., Quintero, G., Isaza-Restrepo, A., Ortiz-Fonseca, M., Latorre-Santos, C., & Pardo-Oviedo, J. (2018). The influence of different curriculum designs on students' dropout rate: A case study. *Medical Education Online*, 33(1), 1–8. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/10872981.2018.1432963">https://doi.org/10.1080/10872981.2018.1432963</a>
- Von Borell de Araujo, D., & Franco, M. (2017). Trust-building mechanisms in a

- coopetition relationship: A case study design. *International Journal of Organizational Analysis*, 25(3), 378–394. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1108/IJOA-04-2016-1012">https://doi.org/10.1108/IJOA-04-2016-1012</a>
- Walsh, C., & Cain, C. (2017). Exploring career advancement opportunities for HTM professionals. *Biomedical Instrumentation & Technology*, 51(1), 51–54. https://doi.org/10.2345/0899-8205-51.1.51
- Wang, L., Zhao, J. Z., & Zhou, K. Z. (2018). How do incentives motivate absorptive capacity development? The mediating role of employee learning and relational contingencies. *Journal of Business Research*, 85(1), 226–237.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2018.01.010">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2018.01.010</a>
- Wilk, V., Soutar, G., & Harrigan, P. (2019). Tackling social media data analysis:

  Comparing and contrasting QSR NVivo and Leximancer. *Qualitative Market Research: An International Journal*, 2(1), 94. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1108/QMR-01-2017-0021">https://doi.org/10.1108/QMR-01-2017-0021</a>
- Wyburn, M. (2018). Freedom of information applications and the confidentiality of university research and research review processes. *QUT Law Review*, *18*(2), 171–193. <a href="https://doi.org/10.5204/qutlr.v18i2.736">https://doi.org/10.5204/qutlr.v18i2.736</a>
- Wyk, M. (2017). Exploring the role of the church as a 'reformation agency' in enhancing a socially transformative agenda in South Africa. *HTS Theological Studies*, 73(3), 1–10. <a href="https://doi.org/10.4102/hts.v73i3.4356">https://doi.org/10.4102/hts.v73i3.4356</a>
- Wylie, C. D. (2018). "I just love research": Beliefs about what makes researchers successful. *Social Epistemology*, *32*(1), 262–271.

### https://doi.org/10.1080/02691728.2018.1458349

- Yan, F., Wang, J., Li, Y., & Cui, P. (2021). An improved aggregation method for performance analysis of bernoulli serial production lines. *Automat. Sci. Eng*, 18(1), 114–121. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1109/TASE.2020.2964609">https://doi.org/10.1109/TASE.2020.2964609</a>
- Yang, Y., & McNair, D. E. (2019). Male teachers in Shanghai public kindergartens: A phenomenological study. *Gender & Education*, 31(1), 274–291. https://doi.org/10.1080/09540253.2017.1332339
- Yeong, M., Ismail, R., Ismail, N., & Hamzah, M. (2018). Interview protocol refinement: Fine-tuning qualitative research interview questions for multi-racial populations in Malaysia. *The Qualitative Report, 23*(1), 2700–2713.

  <a href="https://nsuworks.nova.edu">https://nsuworks.nova.edu</a>
- Yin, R. K. (2018). Case Study Research: Design and Methods (6th ed.). Sage Publications.
- Zhou, J., & Li, Y. (2018). The role of leader's humility in facilitating frontline employees' deep acting and turnover: The moderating role of perceived customeroriented climate. *Journal of Leadership & Organizational Studies*, 25(3), 353–367. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/1548051817750543">https://doi.org/10.1177/1548051817750543</a>
- Zhu, F., Cai, Z., Buchtel, E., & Guan, Y. (2019). Career construction in social exchange:

  A dual-path model linking career adaptability to turnover intention. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 112(1), 282–293. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jvb.2019.04.003
- Zito, M., Emanuel, F., Molino, M., Cortese, C. G., Ghislieri, C., & Colombo, L. (2018).

  Turnover intentions in a call center: The role of emotional dissonance, job

resources, and job satisfaction. *PLOS One, 13*(2), 21–26. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0192126

Zyphur, M., & Pierides, D. (2017). Is quantitative research ethical? Tools for ethically practicing, evaluating, and using quantitative research. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 143(1), 1–16. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-017-3549-8">https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-017-3549-8</a>

# Appendix: Interview Protocol

- i. Arrange a quiet place to conduct the interview.
- ii. Introduce myself to my participants.
- iii. Explain the privacy, go over the consent form, and obtain permission to audio record the interview.
- iv. Begin the interview with an introduction statement, provide instructions to the interviewer and the purpose of the interview.
- v. Use a script for the beginning and the end of the interview.
- vi. Ask open-ended questions, paraphrase as needed, and record the participant answers.
- vii. Ask for any additional clarification regarding the interview process.
- viii. Reiterate contact numbers for the member checking process.
  - ix. Thank the participant(s) for their part of the study.
  - x. End the interview.
- xi. Share a copy of the succinct synthesis with each participant during the follow up meeting.
- xii. End the follow up interview

  End interview protocol.